### **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Aryn Alaine Price

Date

By

Aryn Alaine Price

Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences

Microbiology and Molecular Genetics

Arash Grakoui, Ph.D. Advisor

Brian Evavold, Ph.D. Committee Member

Joshy Jacob, Ph.D. Committee Member

Samuel Speck, Ph.D. Committee Member

David Weiss, Ph.D. Committee Member

Accepted:

Lisa A. Tedesco, Ph.D. Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

By

Aryn Alaine Price

Bachelor of Science, Biology, Truman State University, 2009 Magna cum laude

Advisor: Arash Grakoui, Ph.D.

An abstract of

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the

> Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Microbiology and Molecular Genetics

> > 2016

By

Aryn Alaine Price

### Abstract

The hepatitis C virus (HCV) persists in 75% of infected individuals, predisposing to liver fibrosis, cirrhosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma. Following childbirth, however, women persistently infected with HCV may experience a significant decrease in plasma viral load or even clear infection. This work explores factors that may contribute to the postpartum decrease in viral load. In addition, we report the use of the Cas9 RNA-guided endonuclease platform derived from prokaryotes to restrict HCV infection. Together these studies highlight the complementary forces of the immune system and antivirals in the control of HCV.

By

Aryn Alaine Price

B.S., Truman State University, 2009 Magna cum laude

Advisor: Arash Grakoui, Ph.D.

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the

> Graduate Division of Biological and Biomedical Sciences Microbiology and Molecular Genetics

> > 2016

### Acknowledgements

Arash, I have the utmost admiration for you and words cannot explain the impact you have had on my life. Thanks for being a mentor, father, and friend.

Dave, thanks for being my second mentor. I am thankful to have had the opportunity to work with you, Tim and Hannah.

Thank you to each of my committee members for your continuous support and for challenging my scientific thought process.

Mehul, thanks for being an honorary mentor and member of my committee.

To the members of the Grakoui lab, both past and present: I have learned from each and every one of you. You have become my family and each of you will forever hold a special place in my heart. I love you guys!

Holly, you have gone far above and beyond the call of duty to look after me. I am truly fortunate to have you, Amelie, and Ashton in my life.

I would not have made it past the first day of graduate school without my girls Caline, Maria, and Annie. I am so proud to call you my friends. Thanks for all the laughter over the years.

Mimi and Papaw, thank you for the thousands of prayers you sent up on my behalf.

Ryan and Liisa, thanks for all your love and support.

Dad, thanks for teaching me to believe I can do anything I set my mind to.

"Jomomma," I dedicate this dissertation to you. None of this would have been possible without your listening ear, empathy, and encouragement. I love you and am so thankful you're my mom.

# **Table of Contents**

	Page
Distribution Agreement	Ι
Approval Sheet	II
Abstract Cover Page	III
Abstract	IV
Cover Page	V
Acknowledgements	VI
Table of Contents	VII-IX
List of Figures and Tables	X-XI
<u>Chapter 1:</u> An introduction to hepatitis C virus, pregnancy, and viral control	1
Hepatitis C virus HCV epidemiology and global impact Viral life cycle HCV model systems In vitro In vivo HCV therapeutics: past, present, and future The immune response to HCV Innate immunity Interferons Impact of genetic polymorphisms on the outcome of infection Innate immune cells Adaptive immunity Humoral immunity T-cell mediated immunity	2 2 3 5 5 6 6 10 10 10 10 11 12 13 13 14
<b>Pregnancy and the postpartum period in healthy women</b> Placental anatomy and physiology Tolerance of the semi-allogeneic fetus Parturition and the postpartum period	15 15 16 17

# **Table of Contents**

	Page
HCV infection during pregnancy and following parturition	18
Viral load dynamics	19
Vertical transmission	20
References	22
Figures and Figure legends	34
<u>Chapter 2:</u> Prolonged activation of innate antiviral gene signature after childbirth is determined by IFNL3 genotype	35
Abstract	37
Significance	38
Introduction	39
Results	40
Discussion	45
Materials and Methods	49
Acknowledgements	53
References	54
Figures and Figure legends	59
<u>Chapter 3:</u> Harnessing the prokaryotic adaptive immune system as a eukaryotic antiviral defense	64
Abstract	66
The prokaryotic immune system	67
Cas9-mediated inhibition of eukaryotic viruses	69
Cas9 targeting of RNA	82
Obstacles to the use of Cas9 as an antiviral in humans	84
Concluding remarks	86
Acknowledgements	88
References	89
Figures and Figure legends	101

# **Table of Contents**

Page

<u>Chapter 4:</u> Cas9-mediated targeting of viral RNA in eukaryotic cells	103
Abstract	105
Significance	106
Introduction	107
Results and discussion	107
Materials and Methods	114
Acknowledgements	117
References	118
Figures and Figure legends	122
<u>Chapter 5:</u> Conclusions and future directions	135
Potential sources of CD14 <sup>+</sup> cell stimulation	136
Relevance to other viral infections	138
Persistent infections	138
Acute infections	140
Future directions	140
Other factors that may contribute to the postpartum decrease in HCV load	144
The future of Cas9-mediated inhibition of HCV and other RNA viruses	146
References	148
Figures and Figure legends	151

# List of Figures and Tables

### Page

# <u>Chapter 1:</u> An introduction to hepatitis C virus, pregnancy, and viral control

Figure 1. Genome structure of the hepatitis C virus.	34
Figure 2. Plasma viral load is decreased following delivery in a woman	34
chronically infected with HCV.	

# <u>Chapter 2:</u> Prolonged activation of innate antiviral gene signature after childbirth is determined by IFNL3 genotype

Figure 1. Antiviral defense genes are sustained six months postpartum	59
in PBMCs from healthy mothers.	
<b>Figure 2.</b> Antiviral defense genes are enriched postpartum in CD14 <sup>+</sup> cells.	60
Figure 3. Postpartum antiviral defense transcript enrichment can be stratified	61
based upon allele expression at IFNL3 SNP rs12979860.	

### **Supplemental Figures**

<b>Table 1.</b> IFNL3 genotype and demographics of uninfected mothers.	62
<b>Table 2.</b> IFNL3 genotype and demographics of non-pregnant control subjects.	63

# <u>Chapter 3:</u> Harnessing the prokaryotic adaptive immune system as a eukaryotic antiviral defense

Figure 1. Cas9-mediated immunity in type II CRISPR-Cas systems.	101
Figure 2. Cas9-mediated cleavage of the HIV provirus.	102

### Chapter 4: Cas9-mediated targeting of viral RNA in eukaryotic cells

Figure 1. FnCas9 can be reprogrammed to inhibit viral protein production in	122
eukaryotic cells.	
Figure 2. FnCas9 targets and associates with HCV RNA.	123
Figure 3. Molecular requirements for FnCas9-mediated HCV inhibition.	124
Figure 4. RNA sequence requirements for FnCas9 inhibition of HCV.	125
Figure 5. FnCas9 can inhibit an established viral infection.	126

# List of Figures and Tables

# Supplemental Figures

Figure 1. Design of the rgRNA.	127
Figure 2. Plasmid maps of the FnCas9 and rgRNA encoding vectors.	128
Figure 3. HA epitope-tagged FnCas9 retains the ability to inhibit HCV	129
luciferase production in a dose-dependent manner.	
Figure 4. NLS abrogates FnCas9 inhibition of HCV luciferase production.	130
Figure 5. FnCas9 can inhibit HCV through positive or negative sense	130
strand targeting.	
Figure 6. FnCas9 targeting of DNA is PAM-dependent, whereas RNA targeting	131
is PAM-independent.	
Figure 7. rgRNAs for orthologous Cas9 proteins.	132
Figure 8. Orthologous Cas9 proteins are capable of HCV inhibition.	133
Figure 9. Global gene expression of Huh-7.5 cells transfected with the FnCas9	134
machinery.	

# **<u>Chapter 5:</u>** Summary and conclusions

Figure 1. Postpartum plasma obtained from health women inhibits hepatitis	151
C virus in cell culture.	
Figure 2. Treatment of A549 cells with postpartum plasma does not	152
induce IFIT1, IFIT2, IFIT3, or OAS1 transcript expression.	
Figure 3. 2-D gel analysis and mass spectrometry indicate that apolipoprotein	153
C is decreased following delivery in a healthy mother.	
Figure 4. Plasma apolipoprotein C III levels are decreased following delivery	154
in uninfected women.	

# Chapter 1

# An introduction to hepatitis C virus, pregnancy, and viral control

Portions of the work of this chapter were adapted from a review article published April 2014 in *Future Virology* 

Hepatitis C virus adaptations to altered CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell immunity during pregnancy

Full article citation:

**Price AA**, Grakoui A, Honegger JR. Hepatitis C virus adaptations to altered CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell immunity during pregnancy. *Future Virology*. Review. 2014.

#### Chapter 1

### An introduction to hepatitis C virus, pregnancy, and viral control

### Hepatitis C virus epidemiology and global impact

The hepatitis C virus (HCV) has infected over 185 million people worldwide (1). The virus was identified and cloned in 1989 and has been detected in regions all across the world (1-3). Seven HCV genotypes have been categorized, with sequence variance as high as 30-35% between genotypes (4). Genotypes are geographically distributed, with genotype 1 most commonly found within the United States (3). Though global prevalence is not fully calculated, it has been estimated that 1.3% of Americans are infected with HCV, while up to 2 percent of individuals in Europe are afflicted, depending on the country (3). More disconcerting, however, is the percentage of individuals infected in countries such as Egypt, where the prevalence rate is as high as 14.7% of the total population (3). Nevertheless, asymptomatic infection likely convolutes these prevalence estimates, as does the rapidly evolving field of HCV therapeutics. Incredibly, the treatment of HCV infection has been revolutionized by the introduction of new direct acting antiviral regimens, which can cure nearly all chronic infections (5).

Spontaneous clearance of HCV following the acute phase of infection is associated with robust antiviral immune responses. However, HCV persists in about 75% of infected individuals, predisposing to complications such as liver inflammation, cirrhosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma (6). In fact, HCV is the leading cause of liver transplantation in the U.S., and poses a significant burden on our healthcare system, as each transplant is

estimated to total greater than \$250,000 (7). Further, the demand for livers for transplantation vastly exceeds the available supply.

HCV may be transmitted either sexually or percutaneously (8). Prior to screening of blood products for HCV, blood transfusions and organ transplants were the leading modes of transmission. Screening protocols have been established, and presently injection drug use is the primary cause of new infections in industrialized countries, especially among young adults and adolescents (8, 9). An alarming statistic is that approximately a quarter of individuals infected with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) are co-infected with HCV (10). This number increases dramatically to approximately 90% among those that inject drugs (10). Given the rate of transmission, global prevalence, and economic burden, HCV will likely continue to negatively impact our world until a vaccine is developed. The development of a pan-genotypic vaccine will require extensive understanding of the viral life cycle, as well as immune responses to HCV infection.

### Viral life cycle

HCV is a member of the family *Flaviviridae* and genus *Hepacivirus* (11). It is an enveloped, positive sense, single stranded RNA virus composed of approximately 9.6 kilobases that encode ten proteins (**Figure 1**) (12). The sequence diversity of the seven HCV genotypes has been attributed to the high mutation rate by the error-prone RNA polymerase, which serves as a major obstacle to vaccine development. It is estimated that the replication rate of HCV is upwards of  $10^{12}$  virions per day, and as the mutation

frequency of the HCV polymerase is one in every  $10^4$  bases (one mutation per HCV genome), this equates to  $10^{12}$  mutations per day (13).

The HCV genome is translated by cellular machinery into a single polyprotein that is subsequently cleaved by both viral and cellular proteases. Three of these ten proteins are structural, whereas the remaining proteins are non-structural (14). Core proteins form the capsid of the HCV particle, while the envelope glycoproteins E1 and E2 are involved in receptor binding, fusion, and cellular entry. The remaining proteins, p7-NS5B, are nonstructural and are not incorporated into the viral particle (14).

The HCV life cycle can be broken down into several general steps (11). First, the hepatitis C virion must bind cellular surface receptors for entry. Multiple entry factors are necessary for HCV particle entry into permissive cells, primarily hepatocytes. These include the human tetraspanin CD81, scavenger receptor BI (SRB-1), claudins, and occludin, among others (15-19). Second, the virion membrane must fuse with the cellular membrane. The low pH within the endosome may trigger this fusion process so that the HCV genome can be released into the cytoplasm (11, 20). Third, the genome is translated to generate viral proteins necessary for both the formation of new virions and replication along membranous webs. An internal ribosome entry site located within the 5' untranslated region (UTR) mediates genome translation. As shown in **Figure 1**, both the 5' and 3' UTRs contain extensive RNA secondary structure required for both viral translation and replication (21, 22). Finally, HCV genomes are packaged into fully formed virions and are released from the cell via the secretory pathway (11).

Interestingly, HCV is one of the only viruses known to utilize a cellular microRNA for its life cycle. miR-122 binds within the 5' UTR to enhance genome replication (23). Another unique feature of the HCV is that it does not circulate within peripheral blood as a single particle. Rather, the virus exists as a virolipoparticle, composed of the HCV particle in conjunction with low-density lipoproteins (LDL) or very low-density lipoproteins (VLDL) (11). Association with LDL or VLDL is advantageous for the virus because certain apolipoproteins have been shown to enhance binding of the HCV E2 glycoprotein to the cell surface receptors (24), resulting in enhanced infectious capacity. In addition, it is thought that apolipoproteins shield the HCV glycoproteins from neutralizing antibodies (25). However, these unique aspects of HCV replication and infection also serve as challenges because they must be recapitulated in effective *in vivo* animal models.

#### **HCV model systems**

*In vitro.* It wasn't until ten years after the discovery of HCV that an *in vitro* model system was established. This genotype 1b replicon system allowed for the study of replication in the hepatocellular carcinoma cell line Huh7 (26). However, fully infectious virus particles are not produced by HCV replicons, preventing the study of the full HCV life cycle. This obstacle was partially overcome in 2003, when HCV pseudoparticle systems were first generated (27). In pseudoparticle systems, the HCV E1 and E2 surface glycoproteins are incorporated into lentivirus particles, allowing for HCV entry and neutralizing antibody studies (27). A fully infectious cell culture virus production system was established in 2005 following the isolation and sequencing of the genotype 2a isolate

Japanese Fulminant Hepatitis Virus-1 (JFH) (28, 29). This particular virus strain did not require mutations for replication and is consistently utilized for viral fitness studies and analysis of antiviral therapeutics. The work of chapter 4 utilizes an HCV cell culture system composed of sequences of the genotype 2a J6 and JFH viruses that produce high titers of infectious virions (30).

*In vivo.* The only truly effective animal model system for studying HCV is the chimpanzee. However, government regulations have restricted the use of chimpanzees for HCV research in the United States, thus leading investigators to pursue other animal models. HCV is incapable of naturally infecting small rodents, although mice engrafted with human liver tissue (31), mouse-adapted HCV strains (32), and humanized mice (33) have been used to overcome this obstacle. Alternatively, infection of tamarins with GB virus-B, a virus closely related to HCV, has been used as a surrogate model of HCV infection (34). The development of these *in vitro* and *in vivo* models for the study of HCV has been imperative for the discovery of new drugs that effectively inhibit the virus.

### HCV therapeutics: past, present, and future

Even before HCV was officially identified and isolated, interferon- $\alpha$  was used as an antiviral agent to treat non-A non-B hepatitis (35), and continued to be administered for decades. IFN- $\alpha$  therapy was not without its drawbacks, however, as the sustained virologic response (SVR) rate only ranged from 7-11%, and individuals undergoing treatment were riddled with severe side effects (36). Years later individuals infected with HCV were treated with a combination therapy composed of pegylated (slow-release) interferon- $\alpha$  and Ribavirin, a broad nucleoside inhibitor, which increased the SVR rate to nearly 50% in patients with genotype 1 infection (37-39). More importantly, a new class of drugs, direct acting antivirals (DAAs), has revolutionized the field of HCV treatment, as certain drug regimens can drastically reduce side effects and achieve much higher SVR rates than previous IFN-based therapies.

DAAs can be placed into three broad categories, based upon the particular HCV protein that is inhibited (40). These categories include NS3 protease inhibitors, NS5A phosphoprotein inhibitors, and NS5B RNA-dependent RNA polymerase inhibitors. Overall, multiple treatment options are currently available for individuals with HCV infection, and factors that contribute to the choice of DAA regimen include HCV genotype, subtype, level of hepatic damage, treatment history, viral load, and HIV coinfection status (41).

The U.S. Food and Drug Administration approved the first NS3 protease inhibitors (Telaprevir and Boceprevir) for HCV genotype 1 infections in 2011, though they required concurrent administration of Peg-IFN and Ribavirin (42, 43). Although these firstgeneration NS3 inhibitors were quite potent, they had several disadvantages including high resistance rates due to viral amino acid mutation, and the inability to broadly inhibit the NS3 protease of multiple HCV genotypes. NS5B polymerase inhibitors, on the other hand, are generally pan-genotypic and treatment results in sustained virologic response (SVR) rates as high as 100% (40). The first polymerase inhibitor to receive FDA approval was Sofosbuvir, a once daily pill for individuals infected with genotypes 1, 2, 3, and 4. Sofosbuvir was also the first drug for HCV infection approved for individuals coinfected with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). Since the approval of Sofosbuvir in 2013, several treatment options are now available for individuals with genotype 1 infection, which is the most prevalent HCV genotype within the U.S.A, as mentioned previously. These options include the brand name drugs Harvoni, Olysio, and Viekira Pak, each of which is a combination drug taken in pill form. New drugs for the treatment of individuals with genotype 3 or 4 infections have now been approved, as well. Incredibly, all oral IFN-free DAA regimens have now achieved SVR rates ranging from 93-100% (44).

An emerging technology being investigated to inhibit both DNA and RNA virus infections, including HCV, is based on the prokaryotic adaptive immune system. The majority of prokaryotes possess antiviral defense mechanisms called clustered, regularly interspaced, short palindromic repeats - CRISPR associated (CRISPR-Cas) systems. These systems confer protection to invasion by phages or foreign nucleic acids upon challenge and have been harnessed for antiviral use in eukaryotic cell types (45). Advances in harnessing the prokaryotic adaptive immune system as a eukaryotic antiviral defense are described in detail in chapter 3, and the efficacy of the Cas9 platform to inhibit HCV in cell culture is demonstrated in chapter 4. However, this study utilizing Cas9 to bind and inhibit HCV RNA is currently a proof of principle. It is currently unknown whether Cas9 can be used as an antiviral prophylactic or therapeutic in human infections.

8

Though incredible progress has been made in treating HCV infection with DAAs, a primary drawback to the use of these regimens is the extremely high cost. In 2015, the NS5B polymerase inhibitor Sofosbuvir was released onto the U.S. market at a cost of \$1,000 per pill, totaling roughly \$80,000 for a single pill per day 12-week regimen (46). This high cost renders treatment inaccessible to many patients afflicted by HCV. Further, HCV diagnosis often occurs at late a stage of infection when liver disease and hepatocellular carcinoma may be advanced, so viral clearance does not always negate the need for liver transplantation. In addition, DAAs do not provide lasting immunity. As the current primary mode of transmission is injection drug use, reinfection remains a major concern. Given these obstacles, global eradication of HCV seems unlikely without the development of a vaccine.

Two HCV vaccine candidates have been tested in human clinical trials (ClinicalTrials.gov NCT01436357 and NCT01436357) (47). The first, developed by Chiron/Novartis, is composed of subunits of the HCV E1 and E2 glycoproteins delivered in an oil:water vehicle to induce neutralizing antibodies and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (48, 49). Unfortunately, plans for future studies on this vaccine are currently unknown. The second candidate, developed by Okairos/GlaxoSmithKline, utilizes recombinant viral vectors to deliver HCV non-structural proteins to induce CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell immunity (50), and a Phase I/II clinical trial is currently underway. In the following sections we will discuss immune responses to HCV infection, and the importance of neutralizing antibodies and T cell responses for effective immunization and viral clearance.

### The immune response to HCV

### **Innate immunity**

**Interferons.** Innate immune responses are the first line of defense against infection with HCV. HCV infection of hepatocytes results in the induction of a general interferon (IFN)induced antiviral state that is not specific to HCV. Both hepatocytes and cells of the innate immune system produce type I (IFN- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\beta$ ) and type III IFNs (IFN- $\lambda$ 1,  $\lambda$ 2, and  $\lambda$ 3, also called IL29, IL28A, and IL28B, respectively) (51). An additional type III IFN has recently been discovered and is termed IFNL4 (52).

Virus infections are sensed by toll-like receptors (TLRs), RNA helicase retinoic acid inducible gene-I (RIG-I), and melanoma differentiation antigen 5 (MDA5). These pathways converge and result in the activation of the transcription factors NFKB, IRF3, and IRF7. These transcription factors are then able to bind type I and type III promoter sequences, thereby inducing transcription of IFNs (53).

Type I IFNs bind to the IFN receptor, composed of IFNAR1 and IFNAR2, and induce a signaling cascade resulting in the transcriptional activation of hundreds to thousands of interferon-stimulated genes (ISGs), each of which possesses antiviral effector function. Upon binding of type I IFN to the receptor, Janus-kinase (JAK) 1 and Tyk2 kinases phosphorylate signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 and 2 (STAT1 and STAT2), which then form a trimer with interferon response factor 9 (IRF9). This trimer, known as the interferon-stimulated gene factor 3 (ISGF3), then translocates to the nucleus and binds to interferon sensitive response elements (ISREs) in the promoter

regions of ISGs, inducing ISG transcription (53).

Though type III IFN signaling results in the induction of similar gene sets as type I IFN signaling, receptor usage is distinct. Type III IFNs bind to a receptor composed of the IFNLR1 and IL10R2 subunits, though downstream signaling also includes activation of the ISGF3 complex that binds to ISREs (53). IFNLR1 expression is more restricted than IFNAR1 and IFNAR2. Receptor expression is typically found along epithelial and mucosal barriers, where virus exposure is common (51). Type III IFNs are particularly important for HCV infection as hepatocytes are a major cell type capable of producing these IFNs. In addition, polymorphisms within type III IFN genes have been associated with the outcome of infection with HCV (54-57).

**Impact of genetic polymorphisms on the outcome of infection.** Certain genetic polymorphisms are associated with the spontaneous and treatment-induced clearance of HCV by both IFN and IFN-free treatment regimens. Genome-wide association studies identified a single nucleotide polymorphism (rs12979860) near the IFNL3 gene that is strongly associated with the level of ISGs found within HCV-infected livers. TT or CT genotypes at this SNP are indicative of high ISG levels, whereas patients with a CC genotype generally express low levels of ISGs (58). Further, the CC genotype is associated with spontaneous resolution of HCV infection, while TT or CT genotypes are associated with failure to clear persistent HCV and a poor response to IFN-based therapy (54-57).

11

The mechanisms by which TT or CT alleles impact interferon responses have not been fully elucidated, although a dinucleotide variant ss469415590 (TT or  $\Delta$ G) is in linkage disequilibrium with rs12979860. A  $\Delta$ G genotype results in expression of a novel transcript encoding the IFN- $\lambda$ 4 protein, which is associated with impaired clearance of HCV and induction of ISGs, possibly prolonging IFN signaling in individuals with this genotype (52). Further work is needed to elucidate the mechanisms contributing to prolonged ISG expression. It also remains to be determined if cells of the innate immune system contribute, as they are also potent producers of IFNs (53).

**Innate immune cells.** Certain innate immune cells, specifically myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells (DCs), are key directors for the induction of adaptive immune responses. DC impairment may contribute to the establishment of chronic infection, though studies examining the functional capacity of DCs from HCV-infected individuals describe varying levels of functional impairment (59-61). One consistent observation is the decrease in frequency of circulating DC populations in HCV-infected individuals. Our lab has corroborated these findings, and has also demonstrated that DC populations are enriched in the liver relative to blood. In this study, six populations of professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs) were identified within the liver (62). Frequencies of myeloid DCs were enriched in the livers of HCV-infected individuals relative to uninfected livers. Further, myeloid DCs expressed high levels of activation and maturation molecules (62).

In general, there is evidence for extensive innate immune cell infiltration within livers

persistently infected with HCV. Many of these cells, including dendritic cells (DCs), monocytes, and macrophages, are characterized by an increase in activation marker expression and proinflammatory cytokine production that may contribute to liver damage and fibrosis (63). Though phenotypically activated, innate immune cells may be unable to efficiently present viral antigens to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, and by extension, impairment of innate immune cells may then lead to impairment of adaptive immune cells.

### **Adaptive Immunity**

**Humoral immunity.** While antibodies targeted to HCV non-structural proteins have been detected in HCV-infected individuals, most HCV-neutralizing antibodies target the E2 surface glycoprotein. E2 contains three hypervariable regions, and mutation within these regions has been demonstrated to mediate neutralizing antibody escape (64). However, the overall role of antibody-mediated clearance of acute HCV infection remains controversial.

Antibody-mediated neutralization of HCV has been demonstrated in chimpanzees (65, 66) and humanized mouse models of HCV infection (67, 68). In humans, broadly neutralizing antibodies develop faster and to higher titers than in acutely infected individuals (69, 70). Further, cross-reactive antibodies have been demonstrated to confer protection in injection drug users upon re-infection with HCV (71). However, other studies suggest that infection can be resolved in the absence of detectable HCV glycoprotein-specific antibody responses (72, 73). In these studies the resolution of infection was attributed to robust virus-specific T cell mediated responses. It is therefore

likely that an HCV vaccine will need to induce both neutralizing antibodies and anti-HCV T cell responses.

**T-cell mediated immunity.** T cell immunity is vital for control of HCV infection but fails in most individuals. When acute HCV infection is successfully controlled, the effective immune response predictably includes expansion of highly functional HCV-specific CD4+ and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells targeted to multiple viral epitopes. CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell populations secrete antiviral cytokines such as IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-2 and exert cytotoxic activity that is sustained until viremia resolves. Similarly, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell and B cell help. Depletion of either CD8<sup>+</sup> or CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in chimpanzees challenged with HCV results in failure to clear infection, demonstrating the importance of T cells in the control of HCV (74, 75).

In the more common scenario of progression to chronic infection, HCV-specific T-cell responses are variable in the acute phase of infection, but inevitably develop functional exhaustion or select viral variants that escape T cell recognition (76, 77). Exhausted HCV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells exhibit poor cytotoxicity, cytokine secretion, and proliferative capacity, and express high levels of inhibitory molecules such as programmed death 1 (PD-1) and low levels of self-renewal markers such as the IL-7 receptor alpha chain CD127 (78). In addition, elevated numbers of  $T_{regs}$  have been identified in the livers of chronically infected individuals that may further attenuate T cell effector function (76).

In the chronic phase of infection HCV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are often difficult to detect in the peripheral blood but are maintained in the liver. Whether exhausted cells exert any antiviral activity *in vivo*, particularly within the liver, and their ability to be rescued from an exhausted state, are questions of intense interest. Reversing T cells from the exhausted state may present a novel way of restricting persistent viruses, and the postpartum period is a unique opportunity to study the restoration of virus-specific T cell immunity.

### Pregnancy and the postpartum period in healthy women

Successful pregnancy requires that maternal immune cells tolerate paternal alloantigens expressed by the fetus. Failure to do so has been linked to early onset of labor and fetal death (79). The placental maternal-fetal interface is thus replete with mechanisms to prevent or subdue untoward allogeneic immune responses. To understand these tolerance mechanisms, I will first briefly review the anatomy and physiological roles of the placenta.

**Placental anatomy and physiology.** Upon embryonic implantation into the wall of the maternal uterus, a structure, known as the placenta, forms around the developing fetus. The placenta is derived from fetal tissue and thus must be tolerated by the maternal immune system. Placental cells are termed trophoblasts, and can be categorized as syncytiotrophoblasts or cytotrophoblasts, as they are oriented toward maternal tissue or the fetus, respectively (80).

The human placenta plays three primary physiological roles during pregnancy. First, the placenta is responsible for the synthesis of hormones involved in the regulation of pregnancy, such as estrogen and progesterone. Second, the placenta serves as a physiological structure to house the fetus, and finally, serves to transport oxygen and nutrients to the developing fetus. Due to the anatomy of the placenta, maternal blood comes in direct contact with fetal tissue (80), thus the maternal immune system must adapt to prevent rejection of the semi-allogeneic fetus.

**Tolerance of the semi-allogeneic fetus.** Numerous mechanisms exist to allow the maternal immune system to tolerate the presence of the semi-allogeneic fetus. These include antigen presentation by tolerogenic non-classical class I molecules such as HLA-G, tryptophan catabolism by indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO), inhibition via programmed cell death 1 ligand 1 (PDL1), and expansion of immunosuppressive  $FOXP3^+CD4^+T$  regulatory cells ( $T_{regs}$ ), many of which are specific for paternal antigens (80, 81).

Immunomodulatory mechanisms are concentrated in the placenta. However, some of these mechanisms also exert influence on systemic cellular immunity during pregnancy. For instance,  $T_{regs}$  with robust immunosuppressive activity expand systemically during pregnancy and may inhibit CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation, proliferation, and cytokine production in the periphery by secreting IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$ , depleting available IL-2, and secreting extracellular adenosine (82, 83). Further, pregnancy hormones such as progesterone and estrogen have been shown to affect CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activity (84, 85).

This dampening of adaptive immunity during pregnancy may render mothers susceptible to more severe infections during gestation (86-91). Therefore it has been proposed that innate immune activation may partially compensate for the altered adaptive system (92, 93). These compensatory changes include increased frequencies of monocytes and granulocytes, as well as the upregulation of activation markers such as CD11b and CD64 on these cell types. Further, granulocytes are thought to possess enhanced phagocytic capability during pregnancy, as well as produce high levels of oxygen radicals (94). However, the restoration of the innate immune system following delivery is not fully understood and will be examined further in the work of chapter 2.

**Parturition and the postpartum period.** The induction of labor is controlled by many factors, including levels of estrogen, progesterone, and oxytocin, among other hormones. It has also been demonstrated that a proinflammatory milleu within the cervix and placenta may further enhance labor (95). Specifically, placental CD14<sup>+</sup> cells are phenotypically activated and secrete extremely high levels of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL1- $\beta$ , and IL-6, suggesting a role for these cells in parturition (96).

Together the processes of labor and delivery place tremendous stress on a mother's body. In fact, Mayo Clinic obstetricians recommend waiting a minimum of 18 months following birth before becoming pregnant again to allow the mother's body to fully recuperate from the stress of delivery. Multiple factors contribute to the time required for the body to heal from birth trauma, but during this time, many new mothers may experience pain, swelling, and fatigue, nutritional deficiencies, as well as mental disorders such as postpartum depression (97).

In contrast to the aforementioned difficulties posed by childbirth, the postpartum period is also associated with enhanced control of persistent viruses such as HCV and hepatitis B virus (HBV). Some women may experience a drastic decrease in viral load following delivery. The plasma viral load obtained during pregnancy and following delivery from a woman chronically infected with HCV is depicted in **Figure 2**. Decreases in HCV load have been attributed, at least in part, to restoration of virus-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses from an "exhausted" state. The following section discusses hepatitis C viral load dynamics during pregnancy and following delivery, and the cellular immune components that contribute to the postpartum decrease in viral load. These observations form the basis for the work of chapter 2.

### HCV infection during pregnancy and following parturition

Robust, poly-functional CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses targeted to multiple viral epitopes have been associated with successful resolution of acute HCV infection. In most individuals however, immunity fails and chronic viremia ensues as CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells become functionally exhausted or select viral variants with escape mutations in class I epitopes. During pregnancy, maternal-fetal tolerance processes such as the expansion of regulatory T cell populations or hormonal changes may further impair dysfunctional HCV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses. **Viral load dynamics.** Recognition that HCV viral loads tend to climb during pregnancy and frequently fall sharply after delivery (98, 99), supports the hypothesis that HCVspecific T-cell function may be further suppressed during pregnancy and potentially rebound after delivery. Recent evidence suggests that HCV adapts to relaxed maternal CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell pressure in pregnancy by shedding unfit escape mutations in certain class I epitopes, resulting in the selection of viruses with more efficient replication. Emergence of HCV variants with enhanced replicative capacity during pregnancy has ramifications for mother to child transmission, the primary route of HCV infection in children, and could potentially be relevant to other important vertically transmissible persistent viruses such as hepatitis B virus (HBV) and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV).

Since CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells are major drivers of the evolution of HCV genomes, we recently attempted to gain insight into the effects of pregnancy on HCV-specific cellular immunity by examining evolution of HCV genomes in serial blood samples of two persistently infected women followed through consecutive pregnancies. Viremia dropped markedly after the first delivery in both women and viruses with amino acid substitutions in one or more HLA class I epitopes emerged. These substitutions prevented recognition by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell lines derived from the women, confirming that they functioned as immune escape mutations (98). Surprisingly, several of these effective escape mutations were lost in the second pregnancy, only to appear again after the second delivery, coincident with another sharp fall in viremia. This unusual pattern of amino acid substitution suggested that HCV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell selection pressure was transiently reduced during pregnancy. Using cell culture adapted HCV we demonstrated that the

escape mutations lost in pregnancy significantly impaired *in vitro* production of infectious viruses relative to viruses bearing the "wild-type" epitope sequences (98). These findings confirmed for the first time that maternal-fetal tolerance mechanisms of pregnancy do indeed impair HCV-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses, which has important implications for vertical transmission.

**Vertical transmission.** More than one million children are born to HCV infected mothers each year, and 3-5% acquire the infection *in utero* or at delivery, making vertical transmission the leading route of pediatric HCV infection in the developed world (100). Improved viral replication through loss of unfit escape mutations in pregnancy may contribute to higher viral loads that have been linked to increased risk of vertical transmission. One subject in our study had viral loads in excess of 10<sup>7</sup> IU/ml in both pregnancies and vertical transmission occurred with each. Sequencing of virus from the 2<sup>nd</sup> child confirmed that he had received the fit "wild-type" sequence of the epitopes that had lost escape mutations in the mother during pregnancy, suggesting that relaxed CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell immune pressure during pregnancy may permit viruses with the highest replicative and infectious capacity to be passed to offspring (98).

As discussed above, the postpartum period is associated with enhanced control of persistent HCV infection. Longitudinal sequencing of viral genomes during pregnancy and following delivery indicated that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells exert pressure on the virus to escape immune recognition (98). We hypothesized that additional cell types, including those of the innate immune system, could contribute to the postpartum control of HCV. As less

than one percent of pregnant women are estimated to be persistently infected with HCV (100), we chose to study the transcriptional profiles of innate immune cells from healthy, uninfected women. Chapter 2 demonstrates the potential role for innate immune cells and IFN signaling in the postpartum control of persistent viruses, while unpublished data examining antiviral components of postpartum plasma and future directions for this work are highlighted in chapter 5.

### References

- Mohd Hanafiah K, Groeger J, Flaxman AD, & Wiersma ST (2013) Global epidemiology of hepatitis C virus infection: new estimates of age-specific antibody to HCV seroprevalence. *Hepatology* 57(4):1333-1342.
- Choo QL, *et al.* (1989) Isolation of a cDNA clone derived from a blood-borne non-A, non-B viral hepatitis genome. *Science* 244(4902):359-362.
- Gower E, Estes C, Blach S, Razavi-Shearer K, & Razavi H (2014) Global epidemiology and genotype distribution of the hepatitis C virus infection. *Journal* of hepatology 61(1 Suppl):S45-57.
- Smith DB, *et al.* (2014) Expanded classification of hepatitis C virus into 7 genotypes and 67 subtypes: updated criteria and genotype assignment web resource. *Hepatology* 59(1):318-327.
- Hagan LM, Wolpe PR, & Schinazi RF (2013) Treatment as prevention and cure towards global eradication of hepatitis C virus. *Trends in microbiology* 21(12):625-633.
- Thomas DL (2013) Global control of hepatitis C: where challenge meets opportunity. *Nature medicine* 19(7):850-858.
- National Kidney Foundation (2015) Getting a Liver Transplant. www.kidney.org/atoz/content/livertx.
- Thursz M & Fontanet A (2014) HCV transmission in industrialized countries and resource-constrained areas. *Nature reviews. Gastroenterology & hepatology* 11(1):28-35.
- 9. Cunningham EB, Applegate TL, Lloyd AR, Dore GJ, & Grebely J (2015) Mixed

HCV infection and reinfection in people who inject drugs--impact on therapy. *Nature reviews. Gastroenterology & hepatology* 12(4):218-230.

- Chen JY, Feeney ER, & Chung RT (2014) HCV and HIV co-infection: mechanisms and management. *Nature reviews. Gastroenterology & hepatology* 11(6):362-371.
- 11. Lindenbach BD & Rice CM (2013) The ins and outs of hepatitis C virus entry and assembly. *Nature reviews. Microbiology* 11(10):688-700.
- Bartenschlager R, Lohmann V, & Penin F (2013) The molecular and structural basis of advanced antiviral therapy for hepatitis C virus infection. *Nature reviews*. *Microbiology* 11(7):482-496.
- Neumann AU, *et al.* (1998) Hepatitis C viral dynamics in vivo and the antiviral efficacy of interferon-alpha therapy. *Science* 282(5386):103-107.
- Bartenschlager R, Penin F, Lohmann V, & Andre P (2011) Assembly of infectious hepatitis C virus particles. *Trends in microbiology* 19(2):95-103.
- Pileri P, *et al.* (1998) Binding of hepatitis C virus to CD81. *Science* 282(5390):938-941.
- Scarselli E, *et al.* (2002) The human scavenger receptor class B type I is a novel candidate receptor for the hepatitis C virus. *The EMBO journal* 21(19):5017-5025.
- Evans MJ, *et al.* (2007) Claudin-1 is a hepatitis C virus co-receptor required for a late step in entry. *Nature* 446(7137):801-805.
- Meertens L, *et al.* (2008) The tight junction proteins claudin-1, -6, and -9 are entry cofactors for hepatitis C virus. *Journal of virology* 82(7):3555-3560.

- Ploss A, *et al.* (2009) Human occludin is a hepatitis C virus entry factor required for infection of mouse cells. *Nature* 457(7231):882-886.
- 20. Sharma NR, *et al.* (2011) Hepatitis C virus is primed by CD81 protein for low pH-dependent fusion. *The Journal of biological chemistry* 286(35):30361-30376.
- Friebe P, Boudet J, Simorre JP, & Bartenschlager R (2005) Kissing-loop interaction in the 3' end of the hepatitis C virus genome essential for RNA replication. *Journal of virology* 79(1):380-392.
- Reynolds JE, *et al.* (1996) Internal initiation of translation of hepatitis C virus RNA: the ribosome entry site is at the authentic initiation codon. *Rna* 2(9):867-878.
- Jopling CL, Yi M, Lancaster AM, Lemon SM, & Sarnow P (2005) Modulation of hepatitis C virus RNA abundance by a liver-specific MicroRNA. *Science* 309(5740):1577-1581.
- Grassi G, *et al.* (2016) Hepatitis C virus relies on lipoproteins for its life cycle.
  *World journal of gastroenterology* 22(6):1953-1965.
- Catanese MT, et al. (2013) Ultrastructural analysis of hepatitis C virus particles.
  Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 110(23):9505-9510.
- Lohmann V, *et al.* (1999) Replication of subgenomic hepatitis C virus RNAs in a hepatoma cell line. *Science* 285(5424):110-113.
- 27. Bartosch B, Dubuisson J, & Cosset FL (2003) Infectious hepatitis C virus pseudoparticles containing functional E1-E2 envelope protein complexes. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 197(5):633-642.

- Lindenbach BD, *et al.* (2005) Complete replication of hepatitis C virus in cell culture. *Science* 309(5734):623-626.
- 29. Wakita T, *et al.* (2005) Production of infectious hepatitis C virus in tissue culture from a cloned viral genome. *Nature medicine* 11(7):791-796.
- 30. Mateu G, Donis RO, Wakita T, Bukh J, & Grakoui A (2008) Intragenotypic JFH1 based recombinant hepatitis C virus produces high levels of infectious particles but causes increased cell death. *Virology* 376(2):397-407.
- Mercer DF, *et al.* (2001) Hepatitis C virus replication in mice with chimeric human livers. *Nature medicine* 7(8):927-933.
- Bitzegeio J, *et al.* (2010) Adaptation of hepatitis C virus to mouse CD81 permits infection of mouse cells in the absence of human entry factors. *PLoS pathogens* 6:e1000978.
- Dorner M, *et al.* (2011) A genetically humanized mouse model for hepatitis C virus infection. *Nature* 474(7350):208-211.
- Akari H, Iwasaki Y, Yoshida T, & Iijima S (2009) Non-human primate surrogate model of hepatitis C virus infection. *Microbiology and immunology* 53(1):53-57.
- 35. Hoofnagle JH, *et al.* (1986) Treatment of chronic non-A,non-B hepatitis with recombinant human alpha interferon. A preliminary report. *The New England journal of medicine* 315(25):1575-1578.
- Shindo M, et al. (1991) Decrease in serum hepatitis C viral RNA during alphainterferon therapy for chronic hepatitis C. Annals of internal medicine 115(9):700-704.
- 37. Zeuzem S, et al. (2000) Peginterferon alfa-2a in patients with chronic hepatitis C.
*The New England journal of medicine* 343(23):1666-1672.

- 38. Manns MP, *et al.* (2001) Peginterferon alfa-2b plus ribavirin compared with interferon alfa-2b plus ribavirin for initial treatment of chronic hepatitis C: a randomised trial. *Lancet* 358(9286):958-965.
- 39. Fried MW, *et al.* (2002) Peginterferon alfa-2a plus ribavirin for chronic hepatitisC virus infection. *The New England journal of medicine* 347(13):975-982.
- 40. Schinazi R, Halfon P, Marcellin P, & Asselah T (2014) HCV direct-acting antiviral agents: the best interferon-free combinations. *Liver international : official journal of the International Association for the Study of the Liver* 34 Suppl 1:69-78.
- Gonzalez-Grande R, Jimenez-Perez M, Gonzalez Arjona C, & Mostazo Torres J
   (2016) New approaches in the treatment of hepatitis C. *World journal of* gastroenterology 22(4):1421-1432.
- 42. Jacobson IM, *et al.* (2011) Telaprevir for previously untreated chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *The New England journal of medicine* 364(25):2405-2416.
- 43. Poordad F, *et al.* (2011) Boceprevir for untreated chronic HCV genotype 1 infection. *The New England journal of medicine* 364(13):1195-1206.
- Zopf S, Kremer AE, Neurath MF, & Siebler J (2016) Advances in hepatitis C therapy: What is the current state what come's next? *World journal of hepatology* 8(3):139-147.
- Marraffini LA (2015) CRISPR-Cas immunity in prokaryotes. *Nature* 526(7571):55-61.
- 46. Pawlotsky JM, Feld JJ, Zeuzem S, & Hoofnagle JH (2015) From non-A, non-B

hepatitis to hepatitis C virus cure. Journal of hepatology 62(1 Suppl):S87-99.

- 47. Walker CM & Grakoui A (2015) Hepatitis C virus: why do we need a vaccine to prevent a curable persistent infection? *Current opinion in immunology* 35:137-143.
- 48. Law JL, *et al.* (2013) A hepatitis C virus (HCV) vaccine comprising envelope glycoproteins gpE1/gpE2 derived from a single isolate elicits broad cross-genotype neutralizing antibodies in humans. *PloS one* 8(3):e59776.
- 49. Frey SE, *et al.* (2010) Safety and immunogenicity of HCV E1E2 vaccine adjuvanted with MF59 administered to healthy adults. *Vaccine* 28(38):6367-6373.
- 50. Swadling L, *et al.* (2014) A human vaccine strategy based on chimpanzee adenoviral and MVA vectors that primes, boosts, and sustains functional HCV-specific T cell memory. *Science translational medicine* 6(261):261ra153.
- Wack A, Terczynska-Dyla E, & Hartmann R (2015) Guarding the frontiers: the biology of type III interferons. *Nature immunology* 16(8):802-809.
- 52. Prokunina-Olsson L, et al. (2013) A variant upstream of IFNL3 (IL28B) creating a new interferon gene IFNL4 is associated with impaired clearance of hepatitis C virus. Nat Genet 45(2):164-171.
- Lazear HM, Nice TJ, & Diamond MS (2015) Interferon-lambda: Immune Functions at Barrier Surfaces and Beyond. *Immunity* 43(1):15-28.
- 54. Ge D, *et al.* (2009) Genetic variation in IL28B predicts hepatitis C treatmentinduced viral clearance. *Nature* 461(7262):399-401.
- 55. Suppiah V, *et al.* (2009) IL28B is associated with response to chronic hepatitis C interferon-alpha and ribavirin therapy. *Nature genetics* 41(10):1100-1104.

- 56. Tanaka Y, *et al.* (2009) Genome-wide association of IL28B with response to pegylated interferon-alpha and ribavirin therapy for chronic hepatitis C. *Nature genetics* 41(10):1105-1109.
- 57. Thomas DL, *et al.* (2009) Genetic variation in IL28B and spontaneous clearance of hepatitis C virus. *Nature* 461(7265):798-801.
- Urban TJ, *et al.* (2010) IL28B genotype is associated with differential expression of intrahepatic interferon-stimulated genes in patients with chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatology* 52(6):1888-1896.
- 59. Kanto T, *et al.* (2004) Reduced numbers and impaired ability of myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells to polarize T helper cells in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 190(11):1919-1926.
- Longman RS, Talal AH, Jacobson IM, Rice CM, & Albert ML (2005) Normal functional capacity in circulating myeloid and plasmacytoid dendritic cells in patients with chronic hepatitis C. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 192(3):497-503.
- 61. Della Bella S, *et al.* (2007) Decrease and dysfunction of dendritic cells correlate with impaired hepatitis C virus-specific CD4+ T-cell proliferation in patients with hepatitis C virus infection. *Immunology* 121(2):283-292.
- 62. Velazquez VM, *et al.* (2012) Hepatic enrichment and activation of myeloid dendritic cells during chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Hepatology* 56(6):2071-2081.
- Szabo G, Chang S, & Dolganiuc A (2007) Altered innate immunity in chronic hepatitis C infection: cause or effect? *Hepatology* 46(4):1279-1290.

- 64. Cashman SB, Marsden BD, & Dustin LB (2014) The Humoral Immune Response to HCV: Understanding is Key to Vaccine Development. *Frontiers in immunology* 5:550.
- 65. Farci P, et al. (1996) Prevention of hepatitis C virus infection in chimpanzees by hyperimmune serum against the hypervariable region 1 of the envelope 2 protein.
  Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 93(26):15394-15399.
- 66. Morin TJ, *et al.* (2012) Human monoclonal antibody HCV1 effectively prevents and treats HCV infection in chimpanzees. *PLoS pathogens* 8(8):e1002895.
- 67. Law M, *et al.* (2008) Broadly neutralizing antibodies protect against hepatitis C virus quasispecies challenge. *Nature medicine* 14(1):25-27.
- Vanwolleghem T, et al. (2008) Polyclonal immunoglobulins from a chronic hepatitis C virus patient protect human liver-chimeric mice from infection with a homologous hepatitis C virus strain. *Hepatology* 47(6):1846-1855.
- 69. Dowd KA, Netski DM, Wang XH, Cox AL, & Ray SC (2009) Selection pressure from neutralizing antibodies drives sequence evolution during acute infection with hepatitis C virus. *Gastroenterology* 136(7):2377-2386.
- 70. Osburn WO, *et al.* (2014) Clearance of hepatitis C infection is associated with the early appearance of broad neutralizing antibody responses. *Hepatology* 59(6):2140-2151.
- Osburn WO, *et al.* (2010) Spontaneous control of primary hepatitis C virus infection and immunity against persistent reinfection. *Gastroenterology* 138(1):315-324.

- Major ME, *et al.* (2002) Previously infected and recovered chimpanzees exhibit rapid responses that control hepatitis C virus replication upon rechallenge. *Journal of virology* 76(13):6586-6595.
- Bassett SE, Thomas DL, Brasky KM, & Lanford RE (1999) Viral persistence, antibody to E1 and E2, and hypervariable region 1 sequence stability in hepatitis C virus-inoculated chimpanzees. *Journal of virology* 73(2):1118-1126.
- Grakoui A, *et al.* (2003) HCV persistence and immune evasion in the absence of memory T cell help. *Science* 302(5645):659-662.
- 75. Shoukry NH, *et al.* (2003) Memory CD8+ T cells are required for protection from persistent hepatitis C virus infection. *The Journal of experimental medicine* 197(12):1645-1655.
- Bowen DG & Walker CM (2005) Adaptive immune responses in acute and chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Nature* 436(7053):946-952.
- Phillips RE, Harcourt GC, & Price DA (2001) CD4+ T cells: The great escape.
   *Nature medicine* 7(7):777-778.
- Radziewicz H, *et al.* (2007) Liver-infiltrating lymphocytes in chronic human hepatitis C virus infection display an exhausted phenotype with high levels of PD-1 and low levels of CD127 expression. *Journal of virology* 81(6):2545-2553.
- Arck PC & Hecher K (2013) Fetomaternal immune cross-talk and its consequences for maternal and offspring's health. *Nature medicine* 19(5):548-556.
- Erlebacher A (2013) Mechanisms of T cell tolerance towards the allogeneic fetus.
   *Nat Rev Immunol* 13(1):23-33.
- 81. Aluvihare VR, Kallikourdis M, & Betz AG (2004) Regulatory T cells mediate

maternal tolerance to the fetus. *Nature immunology* 5(3):266-271.

- McNally A HG, Sparwasser T, Thomas R, and Steptoe R. (2011) CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells control CD8+ T-cell effector differentiation by modulating IL-2 homeostasis. *PNAS* 108(18):7529-7534.
- Vignali DA, Collison LW, & Workman CJ (2008) How regulatory T cells work.
   *Nature reviews. Immunology* 8(7):523-532.
- 84. Pazos MA, Kraus TA, Munoz-Fontela C, & Moran TM (2012) Estrogen mediates innate and adaptive immune alterations to influenza infection in pregnant mice. *PloS one* 7(7):e40502.
- 85. Ehring GK, HH Eder, C Neben A Fanger CM Khoury RM Negulescu PA Cahalan MD (1998) A Nongenomic Mechanism for Progesterone-mediated
  Immunosuppression: Inhibition of K+ Channels, Ca2+ Signaling, and Gene
  Expression in T Lymphocytes. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* 188(9):1593-1602.
- Kourtis AP, Read JS, & Jamieson DJ (2014) Pregnancy and infection. *The New England journal of medicine* 371(11):1077.
- 87. Silasi M, *et al.* (2015) Viral infections during pregnancy. *American journal of reproductive immunology* 73(3):199-213.
- Louie JK, *et al.* (2015) Pregnancy and severe influenza infection in the 2013-2014 influenza season. *Obstetrics and gynecology* 125(1):184-192.
- Chertow DS, *et al.* (2014) Ebola virus disease in West Africa--clinical manifestations and management. *The New England journal of medicine* 371(22):2054-2057.

- 90. Mupapa K, *et al.* (1999) Ebola hemorrhagic fever and pregnancy. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 179 Suppl 1:S11-12.
- 91. Zhang HJ, Patenaude V, & Abenhaim HA (2015) Maternal outcomes in pregnancies affected by varicella zoster virus infections: population-based study on 7.7 million pregnancy admissions. *The journal of obstetrics and gynaecology research* 41(1):62-68.
- Sacks G, Sargent I, & Redman C (1999) An innate view of human pregnancy. *Immunology today* 20(3):114-118.
- Faas MM, Spaans F, & De Vos P (2014) Monocytes and macrophages in pregnancy and pre-eclampsia. *Frontiers in immunology* 5:298.
- 94. Svensson-Arvelund J, *et al.* (2014) The placenta in toxicology. Part II: Systemic and local immune adaptations in pregnancy. *Toxicol Pathol* 42(2):327-338.
- 95. Tang MX, Hu XH, Liu ZZ, Kwak-Kim J, & Liao AH (2015) What are the roles of macrophages and monocytes in human pregnancy? *Journal of reproductive immunology* 112:73-80.
- 96. Vega-Sanchez R, *et al.* (2010) Placental blood leukocytes are functional and phenotypically different than peripheral leukocytes during human labor. *Journal of reproductive immunology* 84(1):100-110.
- 97. Staff MC (2014) Family Planning: Get the Facts About Pregnancy Spacing.
- 98. Honegger JR, *et al.* (2013) Loss of immune escape mutations during persistent HCV infection in pregnancy enhances replication of vertically transmitted viruses. *Nat Med* 19(11):1529-1533.
- 99. Gervais A, et al. (2000) Decrease in serum ALT and increase in serum HCV RNA

during pregnancy in women with chronic hepatitis C. *Journal of hepatology* 32:293-299.

Arshad M, El-Kamary SS, & Jhaveri R (2011) Hepatitis C virus infection during pregnancy and the newborn period--are they opportunities for treatment? *J Viral Hepat* 18(4):229-236.

# **Figures and Figure Legends**



Figure 1. Schematic of the genome structure of the positive sense single-stranded RNA hepatitis C virus.



**Figure 2.** Plasma viral load is decreased following delivery in a woman chronically infected with HCV. Study week is relative to delivery (week 0).

# Chapter 2

# Prolonged activation of innate antiviral gene signature after childbirth is

# determined by IFNL3 genotype

The work of this chapter is currently under review at PNAS

Full article citation:

**Price AA,** Tedesco D, Prasad MR, Workowski KA, Walker CM, Suthar MS, Honegger JR, and Grakoui A. Prolonged activation of innate antiviral gene signature after childbirth is determined by IFNL3 genotype. Under review.

#### Prolonged activation of innate antiviral gene signature after childbirth is determined by

#### IFNL3 genotype

Aryn A. Price<sup>1,2</sup>, Dana Tedesco<sup>1,2</sup>, Mona R. Prasad<sup>6</sup>, Kimberly A. Workowski<sup>4</sup>, Christopher M.

Walker<sup>7,8</sup>, Mehul S. Suthar<sup>1,5</sup>, Jonathan R. Honegger<sup>7,8\*</sup>, and Arash Grakoui<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Emory Vaccine Center, Division of Microbiology and Immunology, Emory University School of

Medicine, Atlanta, GA 30329

<sup>2</sup>Yerkes National Primate Research Center, Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30329

<sup>3</sup>Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Emory University School of Medicine,

Atlanta, GA 30329

<sup>4</sup>Department of Medicine, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA 30322

<sup>5</sup>Department of Pediatrics and Children's Healthcare of Atlanta, Emory University School of

Medicine, Atlanta GA 30322

<sup>6</sup>Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, The Ohio State University School of Medicine,

Columbus, OH 43205

<sup>7</sup>The Center for Vaccines and Immunity, The Research Institute at Nationwide Children's

Hospital, Columbus, OH 43205

<sup>8</sup>Department of Pediatrics, The Ohio State University School of Medicine, Columbus, OH, 43205 \*Corresponding authors:

Jonathan R. Honegger, MD	Arash Grakoui, PhD
700 Children's Dr, Room WA4020	Emory Vaccine Center
Columbus, OH 43205	954 Gatewood Rd, Room 3020
Email: jonathan.honegger@nationwidechildrens.org	Atlanta, GA 30329

Email: agrakou@emory.edu

The authors have declared that no conflict of interest exists.

Keywords: postpartum, parturition, interferon, CD14, innate immunity, antiviral genes

## Abstract

Maternal innate and adaptive immune responses are modulated during pregnancy to concurrently defend against infection and tolerate the semi-allogeneic fetus. The restoration of these systems after childbirth is poorly understood. We reasoned that enhanced innate immune activation may extend beyond gestation while adaptive immunity recovers. To test this hypothesis, the transcriptional profiles of total PBMCs following delivery in healthy women were compared to those of non-pregnant control subjects. Interestingly, interferon stimulated genes (ISGs) encoding proteins such as IFIT1, IFIT2, and IFIT3, as well as signaling proteins such as STAT1, STAT2, and MAVS, were enriched postpartum. Antiviral genes were primarily expressed in  $CD14^+$ cells and could be stratified according to genetic variation at the interferon- $\lambda$ 3 gene (*IFNL3*, also named IL28B) single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) rs12979860. Antiviral gene expression was sustained six months following delivery in mothers with a CT or TT genotype but quickly returned to basal levels following delivery in mothers with a CC genotype. CT and TT IFNL3 genotypes have been associated with persistent elevated ISG expression and failure to clear infection in individuals chronically infected with hepatitis C virus. Together these data suggest that postpartum, the normalization of the physiological rheostat controlling interferon signaling is dependent on *IFNL3* genotype, which may influence the outcome of certain chronic viral infections.

# Significance

In this study we examined the possibility that the maternal innate immune system is modulated following delivery. We identified an interferon stimulated gene signature that was primarily expressed in CD14<sup>+</sup> cells circulating in the peripheral blood. Postpartum antiviral gene expression was dependent on the interferon- $\lambda$ 3 (*IFNL3*) single nucleotide polymorphism rs12979860, which suggests that *IFNL3* genotype may influence a mother's ability to combat pathogens following delivery.

### Introduction

Maternal immuno-regulatory adaptations such as the expansion of regulatory T cells  $(T_{regs})$  with potent immunosuppressive capacity serve to maintain fetal tolerance during pregnancy (1, 2). Although tolerance mechanisms are necessary for fetal survival, suppressed cellular immunity renders pregnant women susceptible to severe infection with certain pathogens (3-8). Augmented innate immunity may partially offset the reduced adaptive immune protection in pregnancy (9, 10). Following delivery, however, the maternal immune system is released from the constraints of pregnancy.

The postpartum period is associated with enhanced control of several chronic viruses. Women persistently infected with hepatitis C virus (HCV) or hepatitis B virus (HBV) may experience a precipitous decrease in viral load in the months following delivery (11-15). Factors that contribute to the enhanced postpartum viral control are not fully understood, though in the context of HCV infection the decrease in viral load was linked in 2 women to the emergence of viral variants with escape mutations in class I epitopes, suggesting a restoration of virus-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell selection pressure (11).

There is evidence, however, that a brief lag phase in T cell function may occur following delivery. Though absolute numbers of T cells normalize by one month postpartum (16, 17), these T cells may possess functional effector deficits such as decreased IFN- $\gamma$  production (17). We hypothesized that maternal innate immune activation extends beyond gestation, thus compensating for the lag phase in postpartum T cell immunity and possibly contributing to the postpartum control of persistent viruses. We tested this

hypothesis by comparing the transcriptional profiles of total peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from healthy mothers following delivery in relation to nonpregnant control subjects (NPCs). We identified an interferon-stimulated gene (ISG) signature that was primarily expressed in CD14<sup>+</sup> cells and dependent upon the interferon- $\lambda 3$  (*IFNL3*, also known as IL28B) single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) rs12979860. This SNP has been associated with the spontaneous and treatment-induced clearance of viruses such as HCV (18, 19) suggesting that *IFNL3* genotype may influence the outcome of persistent viral infections following delivery.

### Results

We utilized a systems biology approach to identify gene expression patterns and pathways that may contribute to postpartum control of viral infections. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were collected two weeks following delivery from two healthy mothers, UM07 and UM08, and two non-pregnant control subjects (NPCs), NPC354 and NPC357. All NPC subjects were women in their childbearing years who had never been pregnant. Postpartum genes enriched at least two-fold over NPCs were included in the analysis. 982 genes were differentially expressed in both UM07 and UM08. Further analysis of these genes by DAVID bioinformatics indicated that the top five enriched biological processes were related to immune response (GO:0006955), positive regulation of defense response to virus by host (GO:0002230), response to virus (GO:0009615), defense response to virus by host (GO:0050691), and regulation of immune effector process (GO:0002697) (**Figure 1a**). Remarkably, all five biological processes were associated with immunity, and three of these were specifically related to antiviral immunity.

Due to the number of antiviral genes within the 'defense response to virus' biological process, this category was investigated further. The enriched antiviral defense genes encoded proteins with antiviral effector function (IFIT1, IFIT2, IFIT3, and OAS1) as well as signaling function (STAT1, STAT2, MAVS, and TLR7). Interestingly, the IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  signaling pathway was enriched postpartum (data not shown). Network analysis identified STAT1 and STAT2 to be the regulatory nodes within the network (**Figure 1b**). STAT1 and STAT2 are key modulators of type I and type III interferon signaling, and together these data are consistent with upregulated antiviral interferon signaling in peripheral blood cells following delivery in UM07 and UM08.

We then examined the duration of antiviral gene enrichment following delivery. Gene expression analysis was performed on PBMCs from UM07 and UM08 obtained 2, 4, 12, and 24 weeks following delivery and compared to the gene signatures from NPCs (**Figure 1c**). Interestingly, many antiviral genes were enriched as late as 24 weeks following delivery. Expression patterns varied from transient expression for 2 to 4 weeks postpartum, as in the case of *MAVS* and *STAT2*, to prolonged expression from 2 to 24 weeks following delivery, as exemplified by *IFIT1*, *IFIT2*, and *IFIT3* (**Figure 1c**).

*IFIT1*, *IFIT2*, *IFIT3*, and *OAS1* were chosen for further analysis due to their relative fold increases in transcript levels within total PBMCs. These genes are canonical ISGs that when translated possess antiviral function against numerous viruses. The interferon-induced protein with tetratricopeptide repeats (IFIT) family proteins function by

inhibiting distinct steps of the viral life cycle (20), while oligoadenylate synthetase 1 (OAS1) activates RNAse L to cleave viral RNA (21, 22). RT-PCR confirmed the elevated ISG levels obtained by gene array. *IFIT1* levels were similar between UM07 and UM08, with both mothers displaying approximate six-fold increases relative to NPCs. *IFIT2* levels were enriched by nearly six-fold in UM07 but were not significantly enriched in UM08, whereas *IFIT3* levels were enriched by approximately four-fold in UM08 but not UM07 (**Figure 2a**). Similarly, levels of *IFIT1*, *IFIT2*, *IFIT3*, and *OAS1* were enriched in total PBMCs obtained from UM332 following delivery.

We next set out to determine if antiviral genes were expressed in all circulating cell types. CD8<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes, CD4<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes, CD19<sup>+</sup> B lymphocytes, and CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes were separated based on surface marker expression and analyzed for antiviral gene expression. Surprisingly, the highest postpartum transcript levels of genes encoding IFIT1, IFIT2, IFIT3, and OAS1 were detected within the isolated CD14<sup>+</sup> population (**Figure 2a**). Transcript levels in CD14<sup>+</sup> cells between NPCs did not vary by more than approximately 2 fold, whereas *IFIT1, IFIT2, IFIT3,* and *OAS1* levels were elevated postpartum in UM07, UM08, and UM332. In contrast, transcript levels of these genes in cells expressing CD4, CD8, CD19, or in the remaining cell subsets did not appear to exceed the range of expression seen in NPCs (**Figure 2a**). To ensure that the postpartum ISG enrichment observed in total PBMCs was not solely due to elevated numbers of CD14<sup>+</sup> cells, flow cytometry was utilized for analysis of cell frequency. The frequencies of CD14<sup>+</sup> cells within total PBMCs used for transcript analysis were not significantly different between NPCs and postpartum subjects (**Figure 2b**).

To extend the findings from these two mothers, we analyzed antiviral gene expression in CD14<sup>+</sup> cells from an additional thirteen mothers and eleven NPC subjects. Characteristics of the mothers and NPCs enrolled in this study are shown in Supplementary Tables 1 and 2. CD14<sup>+</sup> cells were isolated, and the levels of *IFIT1*, *IFIT2*, *IFIT3*, and *OAS1* were examined by RT-PCR. NPC transcript levels were tightly clustered in each of the genes tested (**Figure 3a**), whereas highly variable antiviral transcript levels were observed postpartum. Multiple factors could influence postpartum gene expression, so we examined a potential role for genetic factors.

The *IFNL3* SNP rs12979860 is strongly associated with the level of ISGs found within HCV-infected livers. TT or CT genotypes at this SNP are linked to high ISG levels, whereas patients with a CC genotype generally express low levels of ISGs (23). Further, the CC genotype is associated with spontaneous resolution of HCV infection, while TT or CT genotypes are associated with failure to clear persistent HCV and a poor response to interferon-based therapy (18, 19, 24, 25). Given the relationship between this SNP and antiviral gene expression, we hypothesized that the antiviral transcript levels from postpartum CD14<sup>+</sup> cells could also be stratified based on *IFNL3* genotype at rs12979860. Donor *IFNL3* genotype was determined using a PCR-based allelic discrimination assay (**Figure 3a**). Donors with TT or CT genotypes were grouped together due to their similar patterns of antiviral gene expression. Purified CD14<sup>+</sup> cells from NPCs displayed consistent baseline levels of ISG transcripts, regardless of *IFNL3* genotype. Interestingly, transcript levels of *IFIT1, IFIT2, IFIT3*, and *OAS1* within isolated CD14<sup>+</sup> cells from

mothers homozygous for the CC alleles were not significantly different from NPCs (Figure 3a).

In comparison, CD14<sup>+</sup> cells isolated from women with either TT or CT genotypes at rs12979860 displayed significantly enriched transcript levels of *IFIT1*, *IFIT2*, *IFIT3*, and *OAS1*, both relative to NPC and homozygous CC genotype postpartum samples. Although a similar trend in *IFIT5* and *ISG15* expression was observed relative to NPCs and CC mothers, the levels did not reach statistical significance (data not shown). It is interesting to note that within the postpartum TT/ CT cohort, the relative enrichment of the highest data point within each analyzed gene was not recurrently obtained from the same donor. The donor displaying the highest postpartum *IFIT1*, *IFIT2*, *IFIT3*, and *OAS1* transcript level was UM07, UM1001, UM332, and UM06, respectively (**Figure 3a**). These results indicate that postpartum antiviral transcript levels in CD14<sup>+</sup> cells from uninfected mothers may be stratified according to *IFNL3* genotype at SNP rs12979860, which to our knowledge is the first observation of the association between postpartum antiviral gene expression and *IFNL3* genotype in healthy mothers.

Since the initial microarray was performed on PBMCs isolated following delivery from two mothers with CT alleles at SNP rs12979860 (**Figure 1a, b, c**), we next investigated whether ISG enrichment in postpartum PBMCs from individuals expressing homozygous CC alleles would more closely resemble NPCs. Total PBMCs were isolated two weeks postpartum from two CC donors, UM10 and UM12, and compared to the same two NPC donors (NPC354 and NPC357) that were utilized for the gene expression analysis in Figure 1. Analysis of antiviral genes indicated little to no enrichment from postpartum CC donors (**Figure 3b**), a finding in agreement with our analysis of purified CD14<sup>+</sup> cells (**Figure 3a**). This lack of enrichment in CC donors was in stark contrast to the high level of antiviral transcripts observed two weeks postpartum in CT donors UMO7 and UM08 (**Figure 3b**). Taken together, postpartum PBMC ISG expression is prolonged at least six months postpartum in mothers with a CT genotype (**Figure 1c**), but quickly diminishes in mothers with a CC genotype (**Figure 3b**).

## Discussion

We initially hypothesized that innate antiviral immunity may be augmented in the weeks after childbirth to protect women from infections while adaptive immune function recovers. Here we found that some women indeed exhibited prolonged up-regulation of interferon-stimulated antiviral genes in CD14<sup>+</sup> cells after delivery. Strikingly, this signature was limited to women with a particular *IFNL3* rs12979860 genotype. To our knowledge these findings are novel and raise important questions about the mechanisms and potential benefits or harms of protracted interferon signaling in CD14<sup>+</sup> cells after childbirth.

Interestingly, the observed effects of this SNP on ISG expression in circulating CD14<sup>+</sup> cells after delivery (**Figure 1c, 3a**) parallel findings in HCV-infected livers (23). The *IFNL3* SNP at position rs12979860 was originally identified by genome wide association studies to be predictive of spontaneous and treatment-induced resolution of infection with HCV (18, 19, 24, 25). HCV-infected individuals with the favorable homozygous CC

genotype exhibit low intrahepatic ISG levels, while those with the unfavorable CT or TT genotypes exhibit higher intrahepatic antiviral gene expression (18, 19, 23-25). Though the association between impaired clearance of HCV and high intrahepatic ISG levels is counterintuitive, it has been suggested that interferon exerts its protective effect early following infection, whereas prolonged interferon signaling may lead to "interferon exhaustion." Indeed, in a mouse model of chronic infection, blockade of type I interferon prior to infection with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus clone 13 enhanced viral load during the acute phase of infection, but led to viral clearance at later time points (26, 27).

Some evidence suggests that protracted interferon signaling may also impair CD14<sup>+</sup> function. Tilton and colleagues described an association between ISG enrichment in CD14<sup>+</sup> cells and decreased pro-inflammatory cytokine production in patients infected with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) (28). This study hints that in certain settings, the postpartum antiviral transcript enrichment in CD14<sup>+</sup> cells could actually be less favorable due to decreased cytokine production.

Our findings indicate that maternal *IFLN3* genotype may affect postpartum control of viral infections. In support of this, recent work determined that the sharp drop in HCV viremia that sometimes follows pregnancy (11-13) occurs more commonly in women with the *IFNL3* CC genotype (Honegger *et al.* personal communication). This suggests that rapid down-regulation of innate antiviral genes in mothers is likely favorable for the control of HCV infection following delivery. It is possible that a similar effect will be seen for other chronic viral infections that exhibit unique postpartum dynamics such as

the hepatitis B virus (14, 15). However, we cannot rule out the possibility that enrichment of antiviral genes after pregnancy associated with the *IFNL3* CT or TT genotype could be advantageous for other infections. It will be exciting to learn which viral infections are impacted by *IFNL3* genotype and the variable CD14<sup>+</sup> ISG expression following delivery.

It is also tempting to speculate that the *IFNL3* genotype effects on interferon signaling could influence other postpartum complications including bacterial infections, autoimmune diseases, or even depression. Puerperal sepsis, a bacterial infection originating in the uterus following delivery, is the leading infectious cause of maternal death worldwide (29). Type I IFN signaling has been associated with increased severity of infection with a number of relevant pathogens, including staphylococcal and pseudomonas species (30, 31). Likewise, elevated levels of type I interferon are associated with pathogenesis of certain autoimmune diseases such as systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (32). As SLE flares are common during and following pregnancy (33), perhaps the rapid control of IFN signaling in mothers with a CC genotype could influence flare severity. In contrast, patients with multiple sclerosis are often treated with recombinant type I IFN (32). Some women are prone to postpartum relapses (34), suggesting that prolonged IFN signaling could be protective following delivery. Further, depression is a side effect of the rapeutic treatment with exogenous IFN- $\alpha$  (35), and has been associated with aberrant pro-inflammatory cytokine production (36). A CC genotype could potentially be favorable for women prone to postpartum depression. Though we have not studied these potential connections, they are intriguing possibilities

worth examining in the future.

The mechanisms underlying the prolonged and selective ISG up-regulation in CD14<sup>+</sup> cells of *IFNL3* CT/TT women after childbirth remain elusive. First, the mechanism by which the *IFNL3* rs12979860 SNP exerts an effect on ISG signaling in any cell type is unsettled, with uncertainty about whether the SNP is actually functional or whether its effect is mediated by other *IFNL* SNPs in high linkage disequilibrium (37). Second, an effect of *IFNL3* genotype on ISG expression has not been previously described for CD14<sup>+</sup> cells to our knowledge. Monocytes are known to increase in both frequency and activation marker expression during pregnancy and labor (10, 17, 38), with roles in placental vascularization, initiation of labor and potentially immune protection during a period of reduced adaptive immunity. Nonetheless, the stimulus for continued interferon signaling in CD14<sup>+</sup> cells after delivery is unknown. Regardless of the source of CD14<sup>+</sup> cell stimulation, postpartum CD14<sup>+</sup> cells from CC donors may have improved ability relative to their TT and CT counterparts to physiologically down-regulate interferon signaling following delivery.

Overall, we identified a prolonged ISG signature that was primarily expressed in CD14<sup>+</sup> cells following delivery in healthy women. ISG enrichment was dependent upon *IFNL3* genotype, which to our knowledge is the first report of *IFNL3* SNP-dependent gene expression in CD14<sup>+</sup> cells. Together these data may have important ramifications for the maternal response to viral infections and other inflammatory diseases following delivery.

### Methods

#### Study approval

Healthy non-pregnant control subjects and mothers were recruited from the Yerkes National Primate Research Center Healthy Donor Protocol under the approval of the institutional review board at Emory University. Donors provided written consent for blood donation. Healthy mothers (negative for hepatitis B surface antigen, hepatitis C antibody, and HIV antibody) were also recruited from the Ohio State University Substance Treatment, Education and Prevention in Pregnancy (STEPP) Program. Following informed consent, blood collections were performed at Nationwide Children's Hospital in Ohio under the approval of the institutional review boards at Ohio State University and Nationwide Children's Hospital. Donor characteristics are highlighted in Supplementary Tables 1 and 2.

#### **Blood collection and processing**

Blood samples were collected in Vacutainer tubes (BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) and PBMCs were isolated using Ficoll gradient centrifugation. Cells were suspended at a concentration of  $5 \times 10^6$  cells/ml in fetal bovine serum (FBS, Hyclone, Logan, UT, USA) containing 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and stored at -150 degrees C.

## **RNA** purification for microarray analysis

PBMCs were stored in 350 µl of RLT buffer (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) containing 1% beta-mercaptoethanol. Total RNA extraction was performed using the RNeasy mini kit according to the manufacturer's specifications; on-column DNAse digestion was also

performed to remove genomic DNA. RNA integrity of the extracted RNA was assessed by Agilent Bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA) capillary electrophoresis on an RNA 6000 NanoChip; all samples had an RNA Integrity Number (RIN) score of 8.5 or higher. Quantitative analysis was performed using the NanoDrop 2000 spectrophotometer (Thermo Scientific Inc., Wilmington, DE, USA).

## **Microarray hybridization**

For each individual sample, cDNA synthesis and amplification was performed using the NuGEN Ovation Pico WTA V2 system (NuGEN, San Carlos, CA, USA). Briefly, 25 ng of total RNA were used for cDNA synthesis followed by whole transcriptome amplification by NuGEN's Ribo-SPIA® technology. The Ribo-SPIA® technology uses DNA/RNA chimeric primers to amplify cDNA isothermally maintaining the stoichiometry of the input RNA. The amplified single stranded DNA was purified using the AMpure XP beads (Beckman, Indianapolis, IN, USA). Qualitative and quantitative analyses were performed on the Bioanalyzer and NanoDrop respectively to assess the size distribution of the amplified DNA and quantity. 5 µg of the amplified DNA were used for biotinylation and fragmentation using the NuGEN Ovation Encore Biotin Module (NuGEN, San Carlos, CA, USA).

#### **Microarray analysis and bioinformatics**

Data were analyzed using TIBCO Spotfire with OmicsOffice for Microarrays (Integromics Biomarker Discovery). Primary microarray data has been submitted to Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO) in accordance with proposed Minimum Information About a Microarray Experiment (MIAME) standards. DAVID Bioinformatics Resources and Ingenuity Pathways Analysis were employed to identify biological pathways and processes that were enriched in postpartum samples over non-pregnant controls. These programs analyze and categorize gene sets within known biological pathways or networks.

## **Cell purification**

Total PBMCs were thawed and washed twice with complete RPMI containing 10% FCS and 100-µg/ml penicillin and streptomycin and once with cell isolation buffer (PBS containing 1% FCS). CD14<sup>+</sup> cells were isolated using human CD14 MicroBeads and MACS columns according to the manufacturer's instructions (Miltenyi Biotech, Paris, France). Other subpopulations were purified using CD8, CD4, and CD19 Pan B cell Dynabeads for human cell isolation, also according to the manufacturer's instructions (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY, USA). Isolated cells were immediately washed and placed in 350 µL Buffer RLT containing 1% beta-mercaptoethanol and stored at -80 degrees C.

### RT-PCR

Total RNA was extracted using an RNeasy Mini Kit and treated with an RNAse Free DNAse Set (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Reverse transcription reactions were performed using a High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). To determine gene expression levels, 20 ng of cDNA per reaction were analyzed using the *Power* SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems) on an Applied Biosystems 7500 apparatus. Transcript levels were normalized to GAPDH and fold changes were calculated using the formula  $2^{-\Delta\Delta C}_{T}$ .

### Allelic discrimination assay

Genotypes of NPC and postpartum subjects at SNP rs12979860 were determined as previously described (23). Briefly, genomic DNA was isolated from patient samples using the PureLink Genomic DNA Mini Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA) per the manufacturer's protocol. Allelic discrimination was carried out using Taqman Genotyping Master Mix and the following primer/probe combination: Forward Primer 5'-GCCTGTCGTGTACTGAACCA-3', Reverse Primer 5' -

GCGCGGAGTGCAATTCAAC-3'; 5'-VIC-TGGTTCGCGCCTTC-3' and 5'- FAM-

CTGGTTCACGCCTTC-3' (Life Technologies) Samples were run on an ABI 7500 Real-Time PCR instrument (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA), and donor genotype was assigned by automated algorithm included in the SDS v1.3.1 software suite (Applied Biosystems).

#### Flow cytometric analysis

PBMCs were stained with antibodies to CD3 (FITC, clone UCHT1, Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA, USA), CD8 (PE, clone SK1, Biolegend, San Diego, CA, USA), HLA-DR (PerCP – Cy5.5, clone L243, Biolegend), CD19 (violet fluor 450, clone HIB19, Tonbo Biosciences, San Diego, CA, USA), and CD14 (PE-Cy7, clone M5E2, BD Biosciences, (Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) for analysis of cell frequencies and isolation purity.

## Acknowledgements

We thank all of the donors who participated in this study. We also thank Dr. Rafi Ahmed for helpful discussions, Dr. Young-Jin Seo and Dr. Manoj Thapa for critical reading of the manuscript, Dr. Steve Bosinger of the Yerkes Genomics Core for microarray expertise, Lakshmi Chennareddi for statistical expertise, and Jane Lawson for donor recruitment. This study was funded by the National Institute of Health (NIH) Grants U19 - AI057266-11, U19 - AI057266-08, R01 - AI096882, and UL1 - TR001070.

## References

- Erlebacher A (2013) Mechanisms of T cell tolerance towards the allogeneic fetus. *Nature reviews. Immunology* 13(1):23-33.
- 2. Aluvihare VR, Kallikourdis M, & Betz AG (2004) Regulatory T cells mediate maternal tolerance to the fetus. *Nature immunology* 5(3):266-271.
- 3. Kourtis AP, Read JS, & Jamieson DJ (2014) Pregnancy and infection. *The New England journal of medicine* 371(11):1077.
- 4. Silasi M, *et al.* (2015) Viral infections during pregnancy. *American journal of reproductive immunology* 73(3):199-213.
- 5. Louie JK, *et al.* (2015) Pregnancy and severe influenza infection in the 2013-2014 influenza season. *Obstetrics and gynecology* 125(1):184-192.
- Chertow DS, *et al.* (2014) Ebola virus disease in West Africa--clinical manifestations and management. *The New England journal of medicine* 371(22):2054-2057.
- Mupapa K, et al. (1999) Ebola hemorrhagic fever and pregnancy. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 179 Suppl 1:S11-12.
- Zhang HJ, Patenaude V, & Abenhaim HA (2015) Maternal outcomes in pregnancies affected by varicella zoster virus infections: population-based study on 7.7 million pregnancy admissions. *The journal of obstetrics and gynaecology research* 41(1):62-68.
- Sacks G, Sargent I, & Redman C (1999) An innate view of human pregnancy. *Immunology today* 20(3):114-118.
- 10. Faas MM, Spaans F, & De Vos P (2014) Monocytes and macrophages in

pregnancy and pre-eclampsia. Frontiers in immunology 5:298.

- Honegger JR, *et al.* (2013) Loss of immune escape mutations during persistent
   HCV infection in pregnancy enhances replication of vertically transmitted viruses.
   *Nature medicine* 19(11):1529-1533.
- Ruiz-Extremera A, *et al.* (2013) Variation of transaminases, HCV-RNA levels and Th1/Th2 cytokine production during the post-partum period in pregnant women with chronic hepatitis C. *PloS one* 8(10):e75613.
- Lin HH & Kao JH (2000) Hepatitis C virus load during pregnancy and puerperium. *BJOG : an international journal of obstetrics and gynaecology* 107(12):1503-1506.
- ter Borg MJ, Leemans WF, de Man RA, & Janssen HL (2008) Exacerbation of chronic hepatitis B infection after delivery. *Journal of viral hepatitis* 15(1):37-41.
- Lin HH, Wu WY, Kao JH, & Chen DS (2006) Hepatitis B post-partum e antigen clearance in hepatitis B carrier mothers: Correlation with viral characteristics. *Journal of gastroenterology and hepatology* 21(3):605-609.
- Watanabe M, *et al.* (1997) Changes in T, B, and NK lymphocyte subsets during and after normal pregnancy. *American journal of reproductive immunology* 37(5):368-377.
- Kraus TA, *et al.* (2012) Characterizing the pregnancy immune phenotype: results of the viral immunity and pregnancy (VIP) study. *Journal of clinical immunology* 32(2):300-311.
- Thomas DL, *et al.* (2009) Genetic variation in IL28B and spontaneous clearance of hepatitis C virus. *Nature* 461(7265):798-801.

- 19. Ge D, *et al.* (2009) Genetic variation in IL28B predicts hepatitis C treatmentinduced viral clearance. *Nature* 461(7262):399-401.
- 20. Diamond MS & Farzan M (2013) The broad-spectrum antiviral functions of IFIT and IFITM proteins. *Nature reviews. Immunology* 13(1):46-57.
- Metz P, Reuter A, Bender S, & Bartenschlager R (2013) Interferon-stimulated genes and their role in controlling hepatitis C virus. *Journal of hepatology* 59(6):1331-1341.
- Sadler AJ & Williams BR (2008) Interferon-inducible antiviral effectors. *Nature reviews. Immunology* 8(7):559-568.
- Urban TJ, *et al.* (2010) IL28B genotype is associated with differential expression of intrahepatic interferon-stimulated genes in patients with chronic hepatitis C. *Hepatology* 52(6):1888-1896.
- 24. Suppiah V, *et al.* (2009) IL28B is associated with response to chronic hepatitis C interferon-alpha and ribavirin therapy. *Nature genetics* 41(10):1100-1104.
- 25. Tanaka Y, *et al.* (2009) Genome-wide association of IL28B with response to pegylated interferon-alpha and ribavirin therapy for chronic hepatitis C. *Nature genetics* 41(10):1105-1109.
- Teijaro JR, *et al.* (2013) Persistent LCMV infection is controlled by blockade of type I interferon signaling. *Science* 340(6129):207-211.
- Wilson EB, *et al.* (2013) Blockade of chronic type I interferon signaling to control persistent LCMV infection. *Science* 340(6129):202-207.
- 28. Tilton JC, *et al.* (2006) Diminished production of monocyte proinflammatory cytokines during human immunodeficiency virus viremia is mediated by type I

interferons. Journal of virology 80(23):11486-11497.

- Buddeberg BS & Aveling W (2015) Puerperal sepsis in the 21st century: progress, new challenges and the situation worldwide. *Postgraduate medical journal* 91(1080):572-578.
- Parker D, Planet PJ, Soong G, Narechania A, & Prince A (2014) Induction of type I interferon signaling determines the relative pathogenicity of Staphylococcus aureus strains. *PLoS pathogens* 10(2):e1003951.
- 31. Dejager L, *et al.* (2014) Pharmacological inhibition of type I interferon signaling protects mice against lethal sepsis. *The Journal of infectious diseases* 209(6):960-970.
- Lopez de Padilla CM & Niewold TB (2016) The type I interferons: Basic concepts and clinical relevance in immune-mediated inflammatory diseases. *Gene* 576(1 Pt 1):14-21.
- Baer AN, Witter FR, & Petri M (2011) Lupus and pregnancy. *Obstetrical & gynecological survey* 66(10):639-653.
- Pozzilli C, Pugliatti M, & Paradig MSG (2015) An overview of pregnancy-related issues in patients with multiple sclerosis. *European journal of neurology* 22 Suppl 2:34-39.
- 35. Hoyo-Becerra C, Schlaak JF, & Hermann DM (2014) Insights from interferonalpha-related depression for the pathogenesis of depression associated with inflammation. *Brain, behavior, and immunity* 42:222-231.
- 36. Groer ME, Jevitt C, & Ji M (2015) Immune changes and dysphoric moods across the postpartum. *American journal of reproductive immunology* 73(3):193-198.

- Prokunina-Olsson L, et al. (2013) A variant upstream of IFNL3 (IL28B) creating a new interferon gene IFNL4 is associated with impaired clearance of hepatitis C virus. Nature genetics 45(2):164-171.
- Svensson-Arvelund J, *et al.* (2014) The placenta in toxicology. Part II: Systemic and local immune adaptations in pregnancy. *Toxicologic pathology* 42(2):327-338.

#### **Figures and Figure Legends**



**Figure 1.** Antiviral defense genes are sustained six months postpartum in PBMCs from healthy mothers. (A) Top five biological processes increased two weeks postpartum over NPCs. Fold changes were calculated relative to the average of NPC subjects. DAVID Bioinformatics Resource was used for functional annotation, while gene accession numbers for biological processes are listed. (B) Network analysis of antiviral genes enriched two weeks postpartum. Each node represents one gene within the biological process. (C) Heat map of antiviral gene expression in total PBMCs obtained from UM07 and UM08 between two and 24 weeks postpartum. Fold changes were calculated relative to the average transcript levels from NPC354 and NPC357.



**Figure 2.** Antiviral defense genes are enriched postpartum in CD14<sup>+</sup> cells. (A) Antiviral gene expression levels of *IFIT1, IFIT2, IFIT3, and OAS1* from isolated CD14<sup>+</sup>, CD4<sup>+</sup>, CD8<sup>+</sup>, and CD19<sup>+</sup> cell populations were analyzed by RT-PCR and shown as fold change relative to NPC354 (bars represent SEM). (B) Frequency of CD14<sup>+</sup> cells in total PBMCs used for transcript analysis in (A).



**Figure 3.** Postpartum antiviral defense transcript enrichment can be stratified based upon allele expression at interferon- $\lambda$ 3 SNP rs12979860. (A) RT-PCR analysis of antiviral genes. Gene expression levels from isolated CD14<sup>+</sup> cells are expressed as fold change relative to healthy NPC354. Each dot represents one individual donor, and the median of each group is shown. (Kruskal-Wallis test with subsequent Dunn's test for pairwise comparison, (\*) p < .05, (\*\*) p < .001). (B) Gene expression analysis from total PBMCs obtained postpartum from two mothers with CT genotypes (UM07 and UM08) and two mothers with CC genotypes (UM10 and UM12). Fold changes were calculated relative to the average transcript levels from NPC354 and NPC357.
Donor	Age at Delivery	Race	Ethnicity	Total Pregnancies	Total Deliveries	Delivery Mode	IFNL3 rs12979860
UM01	24	Caucasian	Non- Hispanic	2	1	Vaginal	TT
UM02	22	Caucasian	Non- Hispanic	1	1	Vaginal	TT
UM06	33	Caucasian	Non- Hispanic	4	2	Vaginal	СТ
UM07	25	Caucasian	Non- Hispanic	3	2	Vaginal	СТ
UM08	21	Caucasian	Non- Hispanic	3	1	Vaginal	СТ
UM10	33	Caucasian	Non- Hispanic	5	4	Vaginal	CC
UM12	22	Caucasian	Non- Hispanic	1	1	Vaginal	CC
UM14	22	Caucasian	Non- Hispanic	5	3	Caesarian	СТ
UM332	38	Caucasian/ African American	Hispanic	5	4	Vaginal	СТ
UM1001	U*	Caucasian	Non- Hispanic	2	2	Caesarian	СТ
UM1003	U*	Asian	Non- Hispanic	1	1	Vaginal	CC
UM1004	U*	Caucasian	Non- Hispanic	1	1	Vaginal	CC
UM1005	33	Caucasian	Non- Hispanic	1	1	Vaginal	CC
UM1006	34	Caucasian	Non- Hispanic	2	2	Vaginal	CC
UM1007	36	Caucasian	Non- Hispanic	2	2	Vaginal	CC

Supplemental Table 1	. IFNL3	genotype a	and d	lemographics	of	uninfected	mothers.
----------------------	---------	------------	-------	--------------	----	------------	----------

U\* unknown

NPC Donor	PC Donor Age Race		Ethnicity	IFNL3 rs12979860
125	39	Caucasian	Non-Hispanic	СС
354	28	Caucasian	Non-Hispanic	CC
357	25	Caucasian	Non-Hispanic	CC
380	37	Caucasian	Non-Hispanic	СТ
393	27	Caucasian	Non-Hispanic	СТ
408	24	Caucasian	Non-Hispanic	СТ
426	37	African American	Non-Hispanic	TT
427	25	Caucasian	Non-Hispanic	СТ
428	33	Caucasian	Non-Hispanic	СТ
435	26	Asian	Non-Hispanic	CC
447	25	Asian	Non-Hispanic	CC
457	28	Caucasian/ Asian	Non-Hispanic	TT
461	31	African American	Non-Hispanic	СТ

Supplemental Table 2. IFNL3 genotype and demographics of non-pregnant control subjects.

# Chapter 3

# Harnessing the prokaryotic adaptive immune system as a eukaryotic antiviral defense

The work of this chapter was published February 2016 in Trends in Microbiology

Full article citation:

**Price AA,** Grakoui A, Weiss DW. Harnessing the prokaryotic adaptive immune system as a eukaryotic antiviral defense. *Trends in Microbiology*. Review. 2016.

# Harnessing the Prokaryotic Adaptive Immune System as a Eukaryotic Antiviral Defense

Aryn A. Price<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Arash Grakoui<sup>2,3,4\*</sup>, David S. Weiss<sup>2,3,4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Microbiology and Molecular Genetics Program, Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30329.

<sup>2</sup>Emory Vaccine Center, Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30329.

<sup>3</sup>Yerkes National Primate Research Center, Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30329.

<sup>4</sup>Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, Georgia 30329.

\*Corresponding authors:

Arash Grakoui	David S. Weiss
Emory Vaccine Center	Emory Vaccine Center
954 Gatewood Rd, Room 3020	954 Gatewood Rd, Room 2028
Atlanta, GA 30329	Atlanta, GA 30329
Tel: (404) 727-7217	Tel: (404) 727-8214
Email: arash.grakoui@emory.edu	Email: david.weiss@emory.edu

Keywords: Cas9, virus, antiviral, HIV, HBV, HCV

# Abstract

Clustered, regularly interspaced, short palindromic repeats - CRISPR associated (CRISPR-Cas) systems are sequence specific RNA-directed endonuclease complexes that bind and cleave nucleic acids. These systems evolved within prokaryotes as adaptive immune defenses to target and degrade nucleic acids derived from bacteriophages and other foreign genetic elements. The antiviral function of these systems has now been exploited to combat eukaryotic viruses throughout the viral life cycle. Here we discuss current advances in CRISPR-Cas9 technology as a eukaryotic antiviral defense.

# The Prokaryotic Immune System

genome sequencing. Alternatively,

Prokaryotic cells possess innate and adaptive immune systems that conceptually parallel those found in eukaryotic organisms (1). Prokaryotic restriction endonucleases function as an 'innate' immune defense mechanism, recognizing conserved nucleotide sequences and subsequently cleaving foreign nucleic acids. These endonucleases have formed the platform for the generation of powerful tools such as recombinant DNA technology and

CRISPR-Cas systems serve as the 'adaptive' immune system of bacteria and archaea. By incorporating short sequences of bacteriophage-derived or other foreign nucleic acids into their own genome, prokaryotes use CRISPR-Cas systems to recognize new targets and degrade these invaders upon secondary encounter, analogous to a memory response in eukaryotic organisms (2).

#### Trends

- Cas9 technology has been utilized to inhibit pathogenic DNA and RNA viruses in cell culture. This has been accomplished by modulating expression of host factors required for viral entry, directly targeting virus genomes, transcriptionally activating antiviral genes, and cleaving the DNA stage of viruses that integrate into the host cell chromosome.
- The Cas9 machinery has been shown to be efficacious in restricting pathogenic viruses in small rodent models.
- Transgenic plants have recently been developed that inhibit the replication stage of geminiviruses, a major cause of crop losses worldwide.
- Cas9 technology is a promising tool for the generation of virus-resistant transgenic plants and animals, as well as antiviral therapeutics.

#### **Cas9-mediated Targeting of Bacteriophages**

The clustered, repetitive sequences (CRISPR array) that form the central feature of CRISPR-Cas systems were first discovered in 1987 in *Escherichia coli* (3), although it was not until 2007 that the function of CRISPR sequences and their conserved, adjacent

*cas* genes (CRISPR-associated genes) was first described. Barrangou and colleagues demonstrated that upon bacteriophage infection, *Streptococcus thermophilus* integrated phage genomic sequences into the CRISPR array, and that these sequences, in conjunction with the *cas* genes, provided protection from subsequent viral challenge (4). CRISPR-Cas systems have now been identified in over 90% of sequenced archaea, as well as roughly 50% of bacterial species (5, 6). The class II CRISPR-Cas9 system has been the most extensively studied and is discussed in detail below.

There are two distinct stages of Cas9-mediated immunity (**Figure 1**). During the acquisition phase, a bacterium encounters foreign nucleic acid, such as that of a phage genome. A portion of the phage genome is incorporated into the CRISPR array, and is termed a spacer (4, 7, 8). The subsequent immunity phase occurs when the bacterium again encounters an identical foreign nucleic acid and proceeds to catalyze its cleavage. In this phase, Cas9 is guided by two small RNAs, the trans-activating RNA (tracrRNA) and the CRISPR RNA (crRNA) (9, 10). When the associated crRNA, transcribed from the CRISPR array, has complementarity to the invading phage sequence, the two Cas9 endonuclease domains (RuvC and HNH) mediate cleavage of the targeted sequence. Endonuclease activity also requires that a short sequence on the foreign DNA adjacent to that bound by the crRNA, known as the protospacer adjacent motif (PAM), is recognized by Cas9 (10) (**Figure 1**).

In addition to its natural role within bacteria, the Cas9 system has been harnessed for diverse applications in eukaryotic cells. Cas9 can be programmed to target and cleave double-stranded DNA (dsDNA) sequences of interest by engineering single chimeric guide RNAs (gRNAs) composed of portions of the tracrRNA and crRNA (10) (**Figure 2**). Target specificity is achieved by simply modifying the short spacer region of the gRNA to a sequence complementary to the target. Co-expression of the gRNA with Cas9 in the cell of interest leads to target cleavage. Genomic alterations have already been performed in diverse cell types, including those from zebrafish (11, 12), mice (13-15), humans (10, 14, 16, 17), and an abundance of other organisms. Further, Cas9-based technologies have now been successfully exploited against eukaryotic viruses at different stages of their life cycle.

# **Cas9-mediated Inhibition of Eukaryotic Viruses**

While directly targeting viral nucleic acids is an obvious strategy to inhibit viral replication, Cas9 has also been targeted to disrupt host factors critical for the viral life cycle. Additional strategies include using Cas9-transcriptional fusion proteins to reactivate viruses and render them susceptible to killing by the immune system, or to induce transcription of antiviral genes. Together, these avenues may provide effective means to inhibit, or even clear, viral infections. In this review, we discuss examples of pathogenic eukaryotic viruses that have been targeted by Cas9, as well as current obstacles, future implications, and questions regarding this technology.

#### Human immunodeficiency virus

More than 35 million people worldwide are infected with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) (18). HIV infects cells using the primary receptor CD4 (19) and chemokine co-

receptors CCR5 (20) or CXCR4 (21). If left untreated, infection can lead to progressive impairment and depletion of immune cells, particularly CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, and acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) (18). Despite significant advances in antiretroviral regimens, treatment toxicity and viral resistance are limitations of current therapies. A vaccine remains elusive despite intense research effort (22-24).

Certain individuals possess a naturally occurring 32-nucleotide deletion within CCR5 that confers resistance to CCR5-tropic HIV-1 infection (25). In the highly publicized case of the Berlin patient, Timothy Brown received a bone marrow transplant for myeloid leukemia from a donor who was homozygous for this 32-nucleotide deletion in the *ccr5* gene. As a consequence, viremia was undetectable following the transplant, even after cessation of antiviral therapy (26, 27). This fortuitous occurrence highlighted the potential for this CCR5 deletion to be harnessed therapeutically.

Since then, several gene editing strategies have been utilized to generate the CCR5 deletion, including zinc finger nucleases (ZFNs), transcription activator-like effector nucleases (TALENs), and Cas9 (28-31). Briefly, ZFNs are recombinant proteins comprised of sequence-specific zinc finger DNA binding domains fused to the endonuclease domain of the bacterial FokI restriction enzyme. ZFNs are designed in pairs, and following DNA binding, FokI endonuclease domains dimerize to induce site-specific cleavage (32). Like ZFNs, TALENs are proteins consisting of novel DNA binding domains fused to the endonuclease domain of FokI. Each TALE repeat confers specificity for a single nucleotide, so virtually any DNA sequence can be targeted. ZFNs

and TALENs have been reviewed extensively elsewhere (33-35), but importantly, one of the major drawbacks of these technologies is that a new protein must be engineered for each target sequence, so protein design and synthesis remain significant obstacles. Consequently, the emerging Cas9 platform has quickly become the preferred approach for genome engineering due to its ease of use. Only an RNA needs to be altered to program the system for each new target.

Ye *et al.* recently demonstrated that deletion of the 32 bp region of the *ccr5* gene with Cas9:gRNA complexes conferred resistance to CCR5 tropic HIV-1 in monocytes and macrophages differentiated from induced pluripotent stem cells (28). Other groups have also reported CCR5 disruption in HIV-1 permissive cell lines (29), primary CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (30, 31), as well as hematopoietic stem and effector cells (31). Together, these findings reveal the utility of Cas9 in generating CCR5 deletion mutations to inhibit HIV entry and infection.

As HIV-1 may also use CXCR4 as a co-receptor for cellular entry (21), Cas9 has been utilized to disrupt the *cxcr4* gene in GHOST (a human osteosarcoma cell line expressing CXCR4) and Jurkat cell lines, as well as *Rhesus macaque* primary CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells *in vitro* (36). p24 capsid antigen levels were reduced by approximately four-fold, seven days post infection in the supernatants of primary CD4<sup>+</sup> cells transfected with Cas9 and CXCR4specific gRNA (36). This concept of host gene modulation by Cas9 could potentially be applied to countless other viruses with life cycles that are dependent upon specific host proteins. An alternative strategy to combat HIV is to directly target the HIV provirus by Cas9mediated cleavage. The provirus is generated when virally encoded polymerase (Pol) protein reverse transcribes the RNA genome of the virion into a DNA form. RNase H, also virally encoded, degrades the RNA strand, thus allowing the DNA polymerase activity of Pol protein to synthesize the complementary DNA strand (37, 38). This dsDNA form, when integrated into the host chromosome is termed the provirus, which serves as a fundamental hurdle to curing HIV infection (39-42). An HIV provirus can be transcriptionally silent, though in the more common scenario, the provirus serves as a key transcriptional template for HIV RNAs (42). Antiviral therapies target transcriptionally active proviruses, while transcriptionally inactive provirus escape both therapeutics and immune recognition (42). Cells containing the provirus maintain a persistent reservoir that poses a long-lasting health risk to infected individuals.

Several studies have demonstrated that the HIV provirus can be disrupted or excised from latently infected cell lines using Cas9 (43-45). Ebina *et al.* utilized an HIV vector expressing GFP under the control of a long terminal repeat (LTR) promoter to mimic latent HIV infection. Transfections of plasmids encoding Cas9 or gRNA targeted to the LTR in Jurkat cells reduced GFP expression by more than half relative to cells transfected with a control vector (43). Expression of Cas9 and gRNA targeted to the LTR region of an HIV-1 reporter virus in microglial cells also reduced the frequency of GFP expressing cells from 76% to 4% (44). Others have shown that Cas9 treatment was efficacious in latently infected U1 monocytic cells, and that when HeLa cells stably

expressing Cas9 and an LTR-specific gRNA were infected with a GFP reporter virus, the percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup> cells was reduced to less than 10%, as compared to roughly 60% in cells expressing a control gRNA (44). Further, Zhu and colleagues designed a panel of 10 gRNAs targeted to different regions of the HIV genome. Expression of three multiplexed gRNAs and Cas9 in Jurkat cells expressing a full length HIV-1 reporter virus reduced viral particle production by more than 20-fold relative to vector controls (45). Liao *et al.* expanded on these studies to demonstrate that the viral cDNA may be disrupted prior to chromosomal integration (46). More importantly, Cas9 and HIV-specific gRNA expression within primary CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and induced monocyte/macrophage cells reduced virus production by approximately three-fold and ten-fold, respectively (46).

An additional approach to inhibition of HIV has been based on Cas9-transcriptional activator proteins (fusion proteins of catalytically inactive Cas9 to a transcriptional activation domain from another protein), which were originally engineered to induce eukaryotic host gene expression (47, 48). This approach has been applied to activate transcription of the antiviral restriction factor *APOBEC3B*, which can inhibit HIV-1 in cell culture (49). Another strategy, termed 'shock and kill', relies on Cas9 to reactivate transcriptionally inactive virus from cellular reservoirs, which will then be cleared by host immune defenses and/or with conventional antiretroviral therapy. Several groups have engineered Cas9-transcriptional activator proteins that specifically target the HIV-1 LTR promoter sequence. These fusion proteins may provide enhanced specificity relative to traditional agents used for provirus reactivation (50-52). Taken together, the aforementioned studies highlight the diverse ways in which Cas9 technology is being

used to directly target the HIV provirus and/or the receptors important for its entry, reactivate latent virus, or stimulate antiviral gene induction. A critical question is how these technologies will translate to potential use in humans.

Although the aforementioned studies are promising, the efficient delivery of Cas9 and gRNAs in vivo poses a major challenge, not only due to the sheer number of intended recipient CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells within the body, but also to the anatomic locations of viral reservoirs. Common viral vectors such as adeno-associated viruses (AAV) and lentiviruses are currently unsuitable for *in vivo* delivery for any of the approaches described above. For example, AAV does not readily transduce T cells (53), and lentiviruses are generally produced at titers of no greater than 10<sup>9</sup> transducing units/mL, even after extensive concentration, (54) which does not meet the necessary requirement for the *in vivo* transduction of each CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell within the body, estimated to total  $>10^{11}$ cells (55). Until these obstacles can be overcome, targeted modification of ccr5 or cxcr4 by Cas9 may be the most immediate approach. However, this approach has three obvious disadvantages. First, this technique requires ex vivo genomic alteration and cellular expansion, which will likely hinder its widespread use. Second, although lentiviruses are currently being utilized as *ex vivo* Cas9 delivery systems, transduction itself is a mutagenic event, which poses an inherent risk should the virus integrate at a site that could cause harm to the host cell. Finally, latent cellular reservoirs would still persist in spite of HIV co-receptor modification. Given the great potential of Cas9 in combating HIV, it will be interesting to see if and how these obstacles are overcome in the future.

#### Hepatitis B virus

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) is an enveloped partially dsDNA virus that primarily infects hepatocytes (56). Despite the development of a highly effective HBV vaccine (57) as well as nucleoside and nucleotide analog therapeutics used in combination with interferon (56), HBV still affects approximately 250 million people worldwide (58), predisposing these individuals to complications such as liver fibrosis, cirrhosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma.

Following cellular entry, the relaxed circular, partially dsDNA HBV genome (rcDNA) is converted to covalently closed circular DNA (cccDNA), which serves as the transcription template for the generation of viral RNAs (56, 59). Though antiviral therapies inhibit HBV replication, they do not eliminate cccDNAs, which stably persist in the nuclei of infected hepatocytes (60).

Several groups have demonstrated that both HBV rcDNA and cccDNA are susceptible to Cas9-mediated cleavage in cell culture (61-69) as well as *in vivo* (63-66, 69). Numerous cell types and Cas9:gRNA delivery methods were used for the cell culture studies, but one feature common among several of the reports was a two to three fold reduction in HBV surface antigen (HBsAg) level in the lysates or supernatants of cells expressing HBV-specific gRNAs relative to cells expressing control gRNA (61, 63-66). *In vivo*, NRG mice hydrodynamically injected with two different plasmids encoding HBV or Cas9 with a gRNA specific for the HBV polymerase-coding region displayed a four-fold decrease in viremia relative to mice injected with HBV and Cas9/control gRNA

plasmids. The viral titer correlated with a mild reduction in serum HBV surface antigen (HBsAg) level (63). Another group utilized the hydrodynamic injection system in which plasmids encoding HBV and plasmids encoding Cas9 with either control gRNA or gRNAs targeting the HBV surface (S) and X proteins, were injected into Balb/c nude mice (64). Three days following injection, a 90% reduction in serum HBsAg level was observed (64). Similar inhibition was retained up to ten days following injection, and Cas9-induced mutations were detected in up to 75% of total HBV genomes (64). An additional study demonstrated at least a five-fold decrease in serum HBV DNA level and HBsAg four days post Cas9:gRNA treatment in Balb/c mice (69).

Perhaps the least efficacious report of the ability of Cas9 to inhibit HBV *in vivo* was performed in immunocompetent mice. C57BL/6 mice were hydrodynamically injected with two different plasmids encoding HBV and Cas9 with either control gRNA or gRNAs specific for the HBV P1 or X coding sequences (66). Serum HBsAg levels were only slightly reduced in Cas9 expressing mice relative to those expressing the vector control, 24 and 72 hours post treatment, and Cas9-mediated insertions and deletions within the HBV sequence were only detected in four to five percent of total HBV genomes (66). However, discrepancies in the level of HBV inhibition between this study and others could be due to multiple reasons other than the intact immune system, such as gRNA target region, injection time course, and/or ratio of injected HBV plasmid to Cas9 gRNA plasmid.

One caveat to the use of hydrodynamic injection of plasmids encoding the HBV genome

is that cccDNAs are not efficiently generated, and therefore this system does not closely resemble the hepatocytes of chronically infected HBV patients which may harbor up to 40 copies of cccDNA per cell (70). To overcome this obstacle, Dong and colleagues utilized an alternative *in vivo* model in which Balb/c mice were injected with plasmids that allowed for high expression of cccDNAs. Subsequently, hydrodynamic injection with Cas9/gRNA plasmids resulted in a two to threefold decrease in liver cccDNA, and a corresponding approximate fivefold decrease in HBeAg six days post injection (65). Regardless of the mouse model and treatment length, Cas9/gRNA complexes did not facilitate 100% viral clearance in any of the aforementioned studies, highlighting the importance of effective delivery systems in which each infected cell receives Cas9 and gRNA.

*In vivo* delivery of Cas9 for therapeutic targeting of HBV and other hepatotropic viruses may be more readily achievable than for other eukaryotic viruses, as recombinant adenoassociated virus 8 (AAV8) is capable of efficiently transducing hepatocytes (71). Recombinant AAV has gained popularity as a potential Cas9 delivery vector, and offers the advantages of high-titer production and continuous transgene expression (72). However, recent observations that chromosomal insertions of AAV2 may activate protooncogenes in human hepatocellular carcinomas suggest a pathogenic role for this vector (73). Further studies will need to address the potential oncogenic role for AAV8, a serious consideration given that viruses such as HBV are associated with hepatocellular carcinomas. An additional point to consider is that size constraints in many of these viral vectors may not allow for the full expression of *S. pyogenes* Cas9, gRNA, and their respective promoters. To overcome packaging restraints, split-enzyme Cas9 proteins have been generated. Each half of the enzyme can be packaged within a separate vector, and then the protein domains dimerize and form a functional endonuclease upon chemical induction or recruitment by gRNA (74, 75). Further, smaller proteins, such as Cas9 from *Staphylococcus aureus*, are being investigated as alternatives (76, 77). Despite the obstacles, Cas9 may have intriguing potential to combat hepatotropic viruses, specifically in the case of HBV and the ablation of cccDNA.

# Papillomavirus

Human papillomavirus (HPV) encodes a circular dsDNA genome that may integrate into the host cell chromosome. HPV DNA is detected in greater than 99% of cervical cancers, and aberrant expression of HPV proteins promotes cervical cell malignant transformation and tumor expansion (78). The HPV proteins E6 and E7 disrupt normal expression of the host cell cycle proteins p53 and retinoblastoma (Rb), respectively, enhancing cellular immortalization (79, 80). Although the prophylactic vaccines, Gardasil ®

(http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/Vaccines/ApprovedProducts/ucm111283.h tm) and Cervarix ®

(http://www.fda.gov/BiologicsBloodVaccines/Vaccines/ApprovedProducts/ucm186959.h tm), have been developed, there is still a need for therapeutics that effectively control established HPV infection and associated tumors. Presumably, excision of these HPV oncogenes could restore expression and normal functioning of p53 and Rb tumor suppressors, leading to cell cycle arrest and inhibition of tumor/cancer progression. Cas9 was used with cognate gRNAs to disrupt the HPV E6 and E7 coding sequences within the siHa cervical tumor cell line that retains integrated HPV-16, a subtype of HPV that has been associated with greater than 50% of cervical tumors (81). Forty-eight hours following transfection of plasmids encoding Cas9 and gRNAs, viral transcript levels were reduced over 90% relative to cells transfected with control vectors (82). The reduction in E6 and E7 transcript levels correlated with an increase in host p53 and p21 (a cyclindependent kinase inhibitor used as a readout for Rb) production, as well as a significant reduction in cell viability (82). Kennedy et al. demonstrated similar findings in both siHa and HeLa cells, which retain integrated coding sequences from HPV-subtype 18 (83). Further, expression of Cas9 and HPV targeting gRNAs impeded tumorigenesis of siHa cells in a xenograft mouse model (82). No mice were completely free of tumors 45 days following transplantation, but tumor weights were reduced by three-fold relative to those from control treated mice (82). However, in this model, siHa cells were transiently transfected with plasmids encoding Cas9 and HPV-targeting gRNAs, and subsequently implanted into immunodeficient Balb/c nude mice. Other models such as naturally occurring rabbit papillomavirus perhaps more closely resemble the course of infection and tumorigenesis of HPV, and it would be interesting to test the Cas9 system in these models.

It is plausible that AAV may be a potential delivery vehicle for Cas9:gRNAs that target HPV, since certain AAV serotypes can readily transduce HeLa cells (53), a cervical cancer cell line, and AAV sequences have been detected in primary cervical samples (84). However, AAV tissue tropism is not limited to cervical cells (53). Localized introduction of recombinant AAV in the female cervix could potentially minimize systemic cellular transduction. Similarly, the generation of mosaic capsid proteins to express peptide moieties or antibody light chains for a specific receptor may provide the specificity required for transducing a particular cell type (85). Nonetheless, an underlying concern is again the potential oncogenic role of AAV. However, if delivery concerns can be overcome, Cas9 may hold considerable promise for the targeting HPV.

# **Epstein-Barr virus**

Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) is a linear dsDNA herpes virus and causative agent of infectious mononucleosis. EBV infection can lead to cancers such as Burkitt's lymphoma, Hodgkin's lymphoma, and nasopharyngeal carcinoma, among others, when maintained as an episome (86). The first report of Cas9 in the study of EBV was for promoter studies and the generation of an EBV reporter virus (87). Later, Wang and colleagues utilized Raji cells, a B cell line derived from a patient with Burkitt's lymphoma that harbors episomal copies of EBV (88), to demonstrate that Cas9 with gRNAs specific for EBV could excise the coding sequences of EBNA1 and EBNA3C, viral proteins involved in genome replication and host cell transformation, respectively (89). Further, expression of Cas9 with seven multiplexed EBV-targeting gRNAs could arrest cellular proliferation and induce apoptosis (89). Because it has been described that EBV proteins inhibit apoptotic processes in host cells, the induction of apoptosis may be due to the loss of these viral proteins (90). Single cell quantification of EBV episomal copy number within Raji cells expressing both Cas9 and these multiplexed gRNAs indicated that the copy number was widely divergent from cell to cell. Of the 71-sorted cells expressing both Cas9 and gRNA, 19 had undetectable EBV genome levels, whereas 22 cells retained copy numbers identical to untreated cells. The remaining 30 retained varying EBV copy numbers (89). Although this study demonstrates that Cas9 and targeting gRNAs can induce EBV genome disruption in Raji cells, the reasons why Cas9 and EBV gRNAs were only effective in reducing the EBV genome copy number in a portion of cells remain to be elucidated. To our knowledge, a delivery vector that specifically targets only B cells has yet to be developed, which would serve as a limitation in implementing Cas9 technology to combat EBV.

# Geminiviruses

Geminiviruses are one of the largest families of plant viruses and are the causative agents of major crop losses in both the U.S. and around the world. These small, single stranded DNA viruses disrupt host machineries, often leading to plant developmental defects (91). However, recent progress has been made in engineering plants that inhibit geminivirus replication. Ji and colleagues generated transgenic *Nicotiana benthamiana* and *Arabidopsis thaliana* plants expressing Cas9 and gRNA specific for beet severe curly top virus. Plants expressing high levels of Cas9 were protected from virus challenge, and no leaf curling was observed (92). Similarly, Baltes *et al.* demonstrated that DNA loads of bean yellow dwarf viruses were reduced by approximately four-fold in transgenic *N. benthamiana* plants expressing Cas9 and gRNA (93), while others have demonstrated a reduction in tomato yellow leaf curl virus DNA accumulation in Cas9-transgenic plants (94). These studies are extremely encouraging and may pave the way for the generation of other transgenic plants and animals that are resistant to viral pathogens through Cas9mediated targeting.

# **Cas9 Targeting of RNA**

In addition to their role in bacterial adaptive immunity, it has been demonstrated that type II CRISPR-Cas systems can regulate endogenous gene expression. In conjunction with a small, CRISPR-Cas-associated RNA (scaRNA) and tracrRNA, *Francisella novicida* Cas9 (FnCas9) can target an endogenous mRNA encoding a bacterial lipoprotein (BLP) (95). Recognition of BLP by the host innate immune receptor Toll-like receptor 2 (TLR2) triggers an important pro-inflammatory cascade that contributes to host defense. By targeting BLP mRNA, Cas9 suppresses BLP expression and promotes evasion of TLR2-mediated host immune activation and *F. novicida* virulence (95, 96). Further, O'Connell *et al.* described the ability of purified Cas9 from *Streptococcus* 

*pyogenes* (SpCas9) along with gRNA to bind and cleave single stranded RNA in the presence of an exogenous PAM oligonucleotide, termed the PAMmer. Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) mRNA could also be isolated and precipitated from HeLa cell lysate using SpCas9:gRNA in the presence of a PAMmer (97). Taken together, these studies highlight the ability of Cas9 to target RNA.

Given the success of Cas9 in targeting DNA for genome engineering in eukaryotic cells, it was theorized that the ability of Cas9 to target RNA might also be harnessed for use in eukaryotic cells. Such ability could be useful in targeting viruses that contain no DNA stage in their life cycle. Eukaryotic cells possess a mechanism of RNA interference (RNAi) in which small RNAs direct cellular machinery to mRNAs to dampen gene expression (98, 99). RNAi has been harnessed to inhibit the RNA stage of numerous eukaryotic viruses, and does not require the presence of an exogenously expressed protein, as does the Cas9 platform. However, certain viruses have developed methods of circumventing RNAi (100, 101). Eukaryotic viruses have not evolved in the presence of Cas9 and likely cannot inhibit it, thus raising a potential advantage of Cas9-based systems.

FnCas9 was recently used to target the genome of the positive sense single-stranded RNA (+ssRNA) virus, hepatitis C virus (HCV), as a proof of principle (102). HCV is an important human pathogen that can cause liver fibrosis, cirrhosis, and may lead to hepatocellular carcinoma (103). Transient expression of Cas9 and RNA-targeting guide RNA (rgRNA) complexes targeted to either the 5' or 3' untranslated regions of the genome prior to infection of a hepatoma cell line with HCV resulted in a 50-60% reduction in viral protein expression relative to cells transfected with vector controls. In a model of established infection, FnCas9-mediated inhibition was approximately 40%, once again highlighting the need for efficient delivery systems in which each cell receives the Cas9:rgRNA complexes. The endonuclease domains of FnCas9 were dispensable for FnCas9-mediated inhibition of HCV, as was the presence of a canonical PAM (102). Collectively, these data suggest that inhibition was most likely due to a blockade of cellular translation and viral replication machineries that associate with the viral RNA, rather than HCV genome cleavage. This application of Cas9 technology more closely resembles CRISPR interference (CRISPRi), in which catalytically inactive Cas9 proteins are programmed to dampen gene expression, (104, 105) rather than canonical genomic editing. One potential obstacle to the use of Cas9:rgRNA complexes to directly

target RNA viral genomes *in vivo* would likely be the requirement for continuous highlevel Cas9:rgRNA expression during the course of viral infection. Nonetheless, these studies highlight the potential for using Cas9 to target RNA in diverse applications.

# Obstacles to the Use of Cas9 as an Antiviral in Humans

Despite the advances

demonstrating Cas9-	Outstanding questions			
mediated inhibition of	• Can multiplexing gRNAs in transgenic plants and animals simultaneously facilitate resistance to multiple viruses, as occurs naturally with crRNAs in CRISPR arrays in prokaryotes? In			
eukaryotic viruses,	addition, can multiplexed gRNAs targeting the same virus prevent viral escape?			
significant obstacles must	• Can current antiviral therapies synergize with Cas9:gRNA to promote viral clearance?			
be overcome before Cas9	Promote that elemente			
can be used for human	• Are there off target effects on the host when Cas9 technology is used <i>in vivo</i> ? How can such off-target effects be limited? Tissue-restricted expression of Cas9 and gRNA, as well as			
therapeutics. One primary	specificity are possibilities.			
obstacle is the current lack	• How does the mammalian immune system respond to expression of the foreign Cas9 protein? The large Cas9 proteins			
of data addressing how the	from <i>Streptococcus pyogenes</i> , <i>Francisella novicida</i> , and other organisms likely contain numerous B and T cell epitopes. Cas9			
mammalian immune	proteins may be immunogenic and result in clearance of the protein:RNA complex. Additional studies are also needed to address whether these enitones are cross-reactive to host			
system responds to Cas9. It	epitopes and induce aberrant autoimmune responses.			
is currently unknown				

whether Cas9 elicits cross-reactive antibodies or T cell responses. This concern may be alleviated if delivery systems are developed that allow for transient expression of Cas9:gRNAs, as would likely be required for DNA cleavage. The introduction of a Cas9destabilization domain or inducible promoter could also allow for transient Cas9 expression. In contrast to using Cas9 to cleave DNA targets, prolonged Cas9 expression would likely be required for the transcriptional activation of antiviral effector proteins and latent viruses, as well as direct targeting of the RNA stage of virus infections. Sustained expression may not be feasible if the immune system is activated to kill cells expressing Cas9. It is plausible that truncated Cas9 proteins may be utilized to target the RNA stage of viral infections, which could potentially offer the advantages of a smaller packaging size for delivery systems such as AAV, as well as a decreased number of epitopes to be presented to the immune system, assuming a direct correlation between protein size and number of recognizable epitopes. As RNA virus inhibition may not be reliant on Cas9 endonuclease activity, shorter proteins could potentially protect the gRNA from nuclease digestion while still inhibiting translation and/or replication of viral nucleic acid. Further, it is possible that complete Cas9-mediated viral clearance may not be required for viruses that do not establish latency, as a Cas9-mediated decrease in viral load may synergize with other antiviral therapeutics and/or the immune system to fight infection, thus lessening the length of time Cas9 would need to be expressed.

A second major obstacle, as discussed in several sections above, is the development of a highly effective Cas9 delivery vehicle. Ensuring that the Cas9:gRNA machinery is expressed in the correct anatomic locations and proper cell types is absolutely necessary to translate this technology from the bench to the bedside. While transgenic plants and livestock may be readily produced to bypass delivery issues, the potential for human therapeutics is limited at this time. Nevertheless, numerous viral vectors such as

adenoviruses, adeno-associated viruses (AAV), and lentiviruses or retroviruses are potential approaches for the delivery of the antiviral Cas9 machinery. Other approaches include non-viral delivery methods such as lipopeptide nanoparticles, cell-penetrating peptides conjugated to Cas9:gRNA complexes, and DNA nanoclews. Each of these approaches offers both advantages and drawbacks that have been discussed in detail elsewhere (72, 85, 106-109), but underlying concerns include cell target specificity, proper Cas9 expression levels, and host safety. An additional concern is the immunogenicity of the delivery vehicle itself. For viral vectors, untoward immune responses, such as the production of neutralizing antibodies, could prevent effective vector entry and transgene expression in the cell type of interest, which is especially concerning if multiple rounds of treatment are warranted. Even if delivery methods are established so that every infected cell receives Cas9:gRNAs, the necessary ratio of the number of Cas9:gRNA molecules per virus genome or genomic cleavage site will still need to be established.

Finally, Cas9 is a powerful tool that could wreak havoc on the host should cleavage occur at genomic off-target sites. Generating Cas9 proteins with altered PAM specificities or enhanced target recognition are approaches being pursued as methods of reducing off-target effects (110, 111). Other methods include utilizing truncated gRNAs, paired Cas9 nickases, and high-fidelity Cas9 nucleases in order to alleviate this hurdle (15, 112, 113).

# **Concluding Remarks**

Overall, significant advances have been made in employing the Cas9:gRNA machinery to

inhibit pathogenic eukaryotic viruses, though questions still remain (see Outstanding Questions). gRNA multiplexing could facilitate resistance to a panoply of different viruses in transgenic plants and animals, and may also circumvent viral escape. Targeting host factors necessary for viral infection and replication represents yet another route of viral inhibition. However, the possibility of off target effects on the host remains a major concern. Further research will need to address the feasibility of co-administration of currently available antiviral therapeutics and Cas9:gRNA, as well as potentially damaging immunological responses generated toward the foreign Cas9 protein. Despite its limitations, the use of the prokaryotic adaptive immune system as a eukaryotic antiviral defense holds considerable promise. With continued progress and engineering feats, Cas9-based technologies may represent the next generation of antiviral prophylactics and therapeutics.

Presently, however, the majority of studies have been performed in cell culture, with a small number of *in vivo* experiments. Surmounting the existing challenges will likely require intensive collaborative efforts from experts in the fields of immunology, molecular biology, bacteriology, and biomedical engineering. Undoubtedly huge strides will be made in the near future, but the use of Cas9 in humans should be weighed very carefully given the numerous potential risks.

# Acknowledgments

We would like to express our gratitude to Dr. Timothy Sampson and Hannah Ratner for their outstanding comments and critical reading of the manuscript. We sincerely apologize to our colleagues for the omission of other key literature citations due to space limitations and the rapidly expanding Cas9 field. We would like to acknowledge support from the NIH grants R01AI070101, R01AI124680 and 1R21AI118337 to A.G, and ORIP/OD P51OD011132 (formerly NCRR P51RR000165) to the Yerkes National Primate Research Center. DSW is supported by NIH grant R01-AI110701 and a Burroughs Welcome Fund Investigator in the Pathogenesis of Infectious Disease award. The contents of this manuscript are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH.

# References

- Goldberg GW & Marraffini LA (2015) Resistance and tolerance to foreign elements by prokaryotic immune systems - curating the genome. *Nature reviews*. *Immunology* 15(11):717-724.
- Marraffini LA (2015) CRISPR-Cas immunity in prokaryotes. *Nature* 526(7571):55-61.
- Ishino Y, Shinagawa H, Makino K, Amemura M, & Nakata A (1987) Nucleotide sequence of the iap gene, responsible for alkaline phosphatase isozyme conversion in Escherichia coli, and identification of the gene product. *Journal of bacteriology* 169(12):5429-5433.
- Barrangou R, *et al.* (2007) CRISPR provides acquired resistance against viruses in prokaryotes. *Science* 315(5819):1709-1712.
- 5. Makarova KS, Wolf YI, & Koonin EV (2013) Comparative genomics of defense systems in archaea and bacteria. *Nucleic acids research* 41(8):4360-4377.
- 6. Weinberger AD, Wolf YI, Lobkovsky AE, Gilmore MS, & Koonin EV (2012)
  Viral diversity threshold for adaptive immunity in prokaryotes. *mBio* 3(6):e00456-00412.
- Horvath P, *et al.* (2008) Diversity, activity, and evolution of CRISPR loci in Streptococcus thermophilus. *Journal of bacteriology* 190(4):1401-1412.
- Deveau H, et al. (2008) Phage response to CRISPR-encoded resistance in Streptococcus thermophilus. *Journal of bacteriology* 190(4):1390-1400.
- Brouns SJ, et al. (2008) Small CRISPR RNAs guide antiviral defense in prokaryotes. Science 321(5891):960- 964.

- Jinek M, *et al.* (2012) A programmable dual-RNA-guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. *Science* 337(6096):816-821.
- Hwang WY, *et al.* (2013) Efficient genome editing in zebrafish using a CRISPR-Cas system. *Nature biotechnology* 31(3):227-229.
- 12. Chang N, *et al.* (2013) Genome editing with RNA-guided Cas9 nuclease in zebrafish embryos. *Cell research* 23(4):465-472.
- Wang H, *et al.* (2013) One-step generation of mice carrying mutations in multiple genes by CRISPR/Cas-mediated genome engineering. *Cell* 153(4):910-918.
- Cong L, *et al.* (2013) Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. *Science* 339(6121):819-823.
- Ran FA, *et al.* (2013) Double nicking by RNA-guided CRISPR Cas9 for enhanced genome editing specificity. *Cell* 154(6):1380-1389.
- Cho SW, Kim S, Kim JM, & Kim JS (2013) Targeted genome engineering in human cells with the Cas9 RNA-guided endonuclease. *Nature biotechnology* 31(3):230-232.
- Mali P, *et al.* (2013) RNA-guided human genome engineering via Cas9. *Science* 339(6121):823-826.
- (UNAIDS) JUNPoHA (2013) Global Report: UNAIDS report on the global AIDS epidemic 2013.
- Dalgleish AG, *et al.* (1984) The CD4 (T4) antigen is an essential component of the receptor for the AIDS retrovirus. *Nature* 312(5996):763-767.
- 20. Alkhatib G, *et al.* (1996) CC CKR5: a RANTES, MIP-1alpha, MIP-1beta receptor as a fusion cofactor for macrophage-tropic HIV-1. *Science* 272(5270):1955-1958.

- Bleul CC, *et al.* (1996) The lymphocyte chemoattractant SDF-1 is a ligand for LESTR/fusin and blocks HIV-1 entry. *Nature* 382(6594):829-833.
- 22. Carr A (2003) Toxicity of antiretroviral therapy and implications for drug development. *Nature reviews. Drug discovery* 2(8):624-634.
- Palella FJ, Jr., *et al.* (1998) Declining morbidity and mortality among patients with advanced human immunodeficiency virus infection. HIV Outpatient Study Investigators. *The New England journal of medicine* 338(13):853-860.
- Barre-Sinoussi F, Ross AL, & Delfraissy JF (2013) Past, present and future: 30 years of HIV research. *Nature reviews. Microbiology* 11(12):877-883.
- Liu R, *et al.* (1996) Homozygous defect in HIV-1 coreceptor accounts for resistance of some multiply-exposed individuals to HIV-1 infection. *Cell* 86(3):367-377.
- 26. Hutter G, *et al.* (2009) Long-term control of HIV by CCR5 Delta32/Delta32 stemcell transplantation. *The New England journal of medicine* 360(7):692-698.
- Allers K, *et al.* (2011) Evidence for the cure of HIV infection by
   CCR5Delta32/Delta32 stem cell transplantation. *Blood* 117(10):2791-2799.
- Ye L, *et al.* (2014) Seamless modification of wild-type induced pluripotent stem cells to the natural CCR5Delta32 mutation confers resistance to HIV infection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 111(26):9591-9596.
- Wang W, et al. (2014) CCR5 gene disruption via lentiviral vectors expressing
  Cas9 and single guided RNA renders cells resistant to HIV-1 infection. *PloS one* 9(12):e115987.

- Li C, *et al.* (2015) Inhibition of HIV-1 infection of primary CD4+ T-cells by gene editing of CCR5 using adenovirus-delivered CRISPR/Cas9. *The Journal of general virology* 96(8):2381-2393.
- 31. Mandal PK, *et al.* (2014) Efficient ablation of genes in human hematopoietic stem and effector cells using CRISPR/Cas9. *Cell stem cell* 15(5):643-652.
- 32. Kim YG, Cha J, & Chandrasegaran S (1996) Hybrid restriction enzymes: zinc finger fusions to Fok I cleavage domain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 93(3):1156-1160.
- Gupta RM & Musunuru K (2014) Expanding the genetic editing tool kit: ZFNs,
   TALENs, and CRISPR-Cas9. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 124(10):4154 4161.
- Christian M, et al. (2010) Targeting DNA double-strand breaks with TAL effector nucleases. *Genetics* 186(2):757-761.
- 35. Gaj T, Gersbach CA, & Barbas CF, 3rd (2013) ZFN, TALEN, and CRISPR/Casbased methods for genome engineering. *Trends in biotechnology* 31(7):397-405.
- Hou P, et al. (2015) Genome editing of CXCR4 by CRISPR/cas9 confers cells resistant to HIV-1 infection. *Scientific reports* 5:15577.
- 37. Panganiban AT (1985) Retroviral DNA integration. *Cell* 42(1):5-6.
- Rabson AB & Martin MA (1985) Molecular organization of the AIDS retrovirus. *Cell* 40(3):477-480.
- Finzi D, *et al.* (1999) Latent infection of CD4+ T cells provides a mechanism for lifelong persistence of HIV-1, even in patients on effective combination therapy. *Nature medicine* 5(5):512-517.

- 40. Chun TW, *et al.* (1997) Quantification of latent tissue reservoirs and total body viral load in HIV-1 infection. *Nature* 387(6629):183-188.
- 41. Wong JK, *et al.* (1997) Recovery of replication-competent HIV despite prolonged suppression of plasma viremia. *Science* 278(5341):1291-1295.
- 42. Archin NM, Sung JM, Garrido C, Soriano-Sarabia N, & Margolis DM (2014)
   Eradicating HIV-1 infection: seeking to clear a persistent pathogen. *Nature reviews. Microbiology* 12(11):750-764.
- Ebina H, Misawa N, Kanemura Y, & Koyanagi Y (2013) Harnessing the
   CRISPR/Cas9 system to disrupt latent HIV-1 provirus. *Scientific reports* 3:2510.
- 44. Hu W, *et al.* (2014) RNA-directed gene editing specifically eradicates latent and prevents new HIV-1 infection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 111(31):11461-11466.
- Zhu W, et al. (2015) The CRISPR/Cas9 system inactivates latent HIV-1 proviral DNA. *Retrovirology* 12(1):22.
- 46. Liao HK, *et al.* (2015) Use of the CRISPR/Cas9 system as an intracellular defense against HIV-1 infection in human cells. *Nature communications* 6:6413.
- 47. Gilbert LA, *et al.* (2014) Genome-Scale CRISPR-Mediated Control of Gene Repression and Activation. *Cell* 159(3):647-661.
- 48. Perez-Pinera P, *et al.* (2013) RNA-guided gene activation by CRISPR-Cas9-based transcription factors. *Nature methods* 10(10):973-976.
- Bogerd HP, Kornepati AV, Marshall JB, Kennedy EM, & Cullen BR (2015)
   Specific induction of endogenous viral restriction factors using CRISPR/Casderived transcriptional activators. *Proceedings of the National Academy of*

Sciences of the United States of America 112(52):E7249-7256.

- Zhang Y, et al. (2015) CRISPR/gRNA-directed synergistic activation mediator (SAM) induces specific, persistent and robust reactivation of the HIV-1 latent reservoirs. Scientific reports 5:16277.
- 51. Saayman SM, *et al.* (2015) Potent and Targeted Activation of Latent HIV-1 Using the CRISPR/dCas9 Activator Complex. *Molecular therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy*.
- 52. Limsirichai P, Gaj T, & Schaffer DV (2015) CRISPR-mediated Activation of Latent HIV-1 Expression. *Molecular therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy*.
- 53. Ellis BL, *et al.* (2013) A survey of ex vivo/in vitro transduction efficiency of mammalian primary cells and cell lines with Nine natural adeno-associated virus (AAV1-9) and one engineered adeno-associated virus serotype. *Virology journal* 10:74.
- 54. Segura MM, Mangion M, Gaillet B, & Garnier A (2013) New developments in lentiviral vector design, production and purification. *Expert opinion on biological therapy* 13(7):987-1011.
- 55. Ganusov VV & De Boer RJ (2007) Do most lymphocytes in humans really reside in the gut? *Trends in immunology* 28(12):514-518.
- Nassal M (2015) HBV cccDNA: viral persistence reservoir and key obstacle for a cure of chronic hepatitis B. *Gut* 64(12):1972-1984.
- 57. Chang MH, *et al.* (2009) Decreased incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in hepatitis B vaccinees: a 20-year follow-up study. *Journal of the National Cancer*

*Institute* 101(19):1348-1355.

- 58. Ott JJ, Stevens GA, Groeger J, & Wiersma ST (2012) Global epidemiology of hepatitis B virus infection: new estimates of age-specific HBsAg seroprevalence and endemicity. *Vaccine* 30(12):2212-2219.
- Kennedy EM, Kornepati AV, & Cullen BR (2015) Targeting hepatitis B virus cccDNA using CRISPR/Cas9. *Antiviral research* 123:188-192.
- Gao W & Hu J (2007) Formation of hepatitis B virus covalently closed circular
   DNA: removal of genome-linked protein. *Journal of virology* 81(12):6164-6174.
- Kennedy EM, *et al.* (2015) Suppression of hepatitis B virus DNA accumulation in chronically infected cells using a bacterial CRISPR/Cas RNA-guided DNA endonuclease. *Virology* 476:196-205.
- Seeger C & Sohn JA (2014) Targeting Hepatitis B Virus With CRISPR/Cas9.
   Molecular therapy. Nucleic acids 3:e216.
- 63. Ramanan V, *et al.* (2015) CRISPR/Cas9 cleavage of viral DNA efficiently suppresses hepatitis B virus. *Scientific reports* 5:10833.
- 64. Zhen S, *et al.* (2015) Harnessing the clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeat (CRISPR)/CRISPR-associated Cas9 system to disrupt the hepatitis B virus. *Gene therapy* 22(5):404-412.
- 65. Dong C, *et al.* (2015) Targeting hepatitis B virus cccDNA by CRISPR/Cas9 nuclease efficiently inhibits viral replication. *Antiviral research* 118:110-117.
- Lin SR, *et al.* (2014) The CRISPR/Cas9 System Facilitates Clearance of the Intrahepatic HBV Templates In Vivo. *Molecular therapy. Nucleic acids* 3:e186.
- 67. Wang J, et al. (2015) Dual gRNAs guided CRISPR/Cas9 system inhibits hepatitis

B virus replication. World journal of gastroenterology 21(32):9554-9565.

- 68. Karimova M, et al. (2015) CRISPR/Cas9 nickase-mediated disruption of hepatitisB virus open reading frame S and X. Scientific reports 5:13734.
- 69. Liu X, Hao R, Chen S, Guo D, & Chen Y (2015) Inhibition of hepatitis B virus by the CRISPR/Cas9 system via targeting the conserved regions of the viral genome. *The Journal of general virology* 96(8):2252-2261.
- Laras A, Koskinas J, Dimou E, Kostamena A, & Hadziyannis SJ (2006)
   Intrahepatic levels and replicative activity of covalently closed circular hepatitis B
   virus DNA in chronically infected patients. *Hepatology* 44(3):694-702.
- Lisowski L, *et al.* (2014) Selection and evaluation of clinically relevant AAV variants in a xenograft liver model. *Nature* 506(7488):382-386.
- Kotterman MA & Schaffer DV (2014) Engineering adeno-associated viruses for clinical gene therapy. *Nature reviews. Genetics* 15(7):445-451.
- 73. Nault JC, *et al.* (2015) Recurrent AAV2-related insertional mutagenesis in human hepatocellular carcinomas. *Nature genetics* 47(10):1187-1193.
- 74. Zetsche B, Volz SE, & Zhang F (2015) A split-Cas9 architecture for inducible genome editing and transcription modulation. *Nature biotechnology* 33(2):139-142.
- Wright AV, et al. (2015) Rational design of a split-Cas9 enzyme complex.
   Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 112(10):2984-2989.
- Ran FA, *et al.* (2015) In vivo genome editing using Staphylococcus aureus Cas9.
   *Nature* 520(7546):186-191.

- 77. Kennedy EM, *et al.* (2015) Optimization of a multiplex CRISPR/Cas system for use as an antiviral therapeutic. *Methods* 91:82-86.
- Walboomers JMM, et al. (1999) Human papillomavirus is a necessary cause of invasive cervical cancer worldwide. Journal of Pathology 189(1):12-19.
- 79. Moody CA & Laimins LA (2010) Human papillomavirus oncoproteins: pathways to transformation. *Nature reviews. Cancer* 10(8):550-560.
- zur Hausen H (2002) Papillomaviruses and cancer: from basic studies to clinical application. *Nature reviews. Cancer* 2(5):342-350.
- Bosch FX, *et al.* (1995) Prevalence of human papillomavirus in cervical cancer: a worldwide perspective. International biological study on cervical cancer (IBSCC)
   Study Group. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 87(11):796-802.
- Zhen S, *et al.* (2014) In vitro and in vivo growth suppression of human papillomavirus 16-positive cervical cancer cells by CRISPR/Cas9. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications* 450(4):1422-1426.
- 83. Kennedy EM, *et al.* (2014) Inactivation of the human papillomavirus E6 or E7 gene in cervical carcinoma cells by using a bacterial CRISPR/Cas RNA-guided endonuclease. *Journal of virology* 88(20):11965-11972.
- 84. Venturoli S, *et al.* (2001) Detection of adeno-associated virus DNA in female genital samples by PCR-ELISA. *Journal of medical virology* 64(4):577-582.
- Buchholz CJ, Friedel T, & Buning H (2015) Surface-Engineered Viral Vectors for Selective and Cell Type-Specific Gene Delivery. *Trends in biotechnology* 33(12):777-790.
- 86. Young LS & Rickinson AB (2004) Epstein-Barr virus: 40 years on. *Nature*
reviews. Cancer 4(10):757-768.

- 87. Yuen KS, *et al.* (2015) CRISPR/Cas9-mediated genome editing of Epstein-Barr virus in human cells. *The Journal of general virology* 96(Pt 3):626-636.
- 88. Adams A & Lindahl T (1975) Epstein-Barr virus genomes with properties of circular DNA molecules in carrier cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 72(4):1477-1481.
- 89. Wang J & Quake SR (2014) RNA-guided endonuclease provides a therapeutic strategy to cure latent herpesviridae infection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 111(36):13157-13162.
- 90. Ruf IK, *et al.* (1999) Epstein-barr virus regulates c-MYC, apoptosis, and
  tumorigenicity in Burkitt lymphoma. *Molecular and cellular biology* 19(3):1651 1660.
- 91. Hanley-Bowdoin L, Bejarano ER, Robertson D, & Mansoor S (2013)
  Geminiviruses: masters at redirecting and reprogramming plant processes. *Nature reviews. Microbiology* 11(11):777-788.
- 92. Ji X, Zhang HW, Zhang Y, Wang YP, & Gao CX (2015) Establishing a CRISPR-Cas-like immune system conferring DNA virus resistance in plants. *Nature Plants* 1(10).
- 93. Baltes NJ, *et al.* (2015) Conferring resistance to geminiviruses with the CRISPR-Cas prokaryotic immune system. *Nature Plants* 1(10).
- Ali Z, et al. (2015) CRISPR/Cas9-mediated viral interference in plants. *Genome biology* 16:238.
- 95. Sampson TR, Saroj SD, Llewellyn AC, Tzeng YL, & Weiss DS (2013) A

CRISPR/Cas system mediates bacterial innate immune evasion and virulence. *Nature* 497(7448):254-257.

- 96. Sampson TR, et al. (2014) A CRISPR-Cas system enhances envelope integrity mediating antibiotic resistance and inflammasome evasion. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 111(30):11163-11168.
- 97. O'Connell MR, *et al.* (2014) Programmable RNA recognition and cleavage by CRISPR/Cas9. *Nature* 516(7530):263-266.
- 98. Hannon GJ (2002) RNA interference. *Nature* 418(6894):244-251.
- 99. Fire A, *et al.* (1998) Potent and specific genetic interference by double-strandedRNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature* 391(6669):806-811.
- Misasi J & Sullivan NJ (2014) Camouflage and misdirection: the full-on assault of ebola virus disease. *Cell* 159(3):477-486.
- 101. Fabozzi G, Nabel CS, Dolan MA, & Sullivan NJ (2011) Ebolavirus proteins suppress the effects of small interfering RNA by direct interaction with the mammalian RNA interference pathway. *Journal of virology* 85(6):2512-2523.
- 102. Price AA, Sampson TR, Ratner HK, Grakoui A, & Weiss DS (2015) Cas9mediated targeting of viral RNA in eukaryotic cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 112(19):6164-6169.
- 103. Scheel TK & Rice CM (2013) Understanding the hepatitis C virus life cycle paves the way for highly effective therapies. *Nature medicine* 19(7):837-849.
- Qi LS, *et al.* (2013) Repurposing CRISPR as an RNA-guided platform for sequence-specific control of gene expression. *Cell* 152(5):1173-1183.

- Gilbert LA, *et al.* (2013) CRISPR-mediated modular RNA-guided regulation of transcription in eukaryotes. *Cell* 154(2):442-451.
- 106. Schmidt F & Grimm D (2015) CRISPR genome engineering and viral gene delivery: a case of mutual attraction. *Biotechnology journal* 10(2):258-272.
- 107. Ramakrishna S, *et al.* (2014) Gene disruption by cell-penetrating peptidemediated delivery of Cas9 protein and guide RNA. *Genome research* 24(6):1020-1027.
- Sun W, et al. (2015) Self-assembled DNA nanoclews for the efficient delivery of CRISPR-Cas9 for genome editing. *Angewandte Chemie* 54(41):12029-12033.
- 109. Chen X & Goncalves MA (2015) Engineered Viruses as Genome Editing Devices. Molecular therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy.
- Kleinstiver BP, et al. (2015) Engineered CRISPR-Cas9 nucleases with altered PAM specificities. *Nature* 523(7561):481-485.
- Slaymaker IM, *et al.* (2016) Rationally engineered Cas9 nucleases with improved specificity. *Science* 351(6268):84-88.
- Fu Y, Sander JD, Reyon D, Cascio VM, & Joung JK (2014) Improving CRISPR-Cas nuclease specificity using truncated guide RNAs. *Nature biotechnology* 32(3):279-284.
- Kleinstiver BP, *et al.* (2016) High-fidelity CRISPR-Cas9 nucleases with no detectable genome-wide off-target effects. *Nature*.

#### **Figures and Figure Legends**



**Figure 1. Cas9-mediated immunity in type II CRISPR-Cas systems.** Phase 1: Acquisition. Upon encounter with foreign nucleic acid, such as that of a bacteriophage genome, a short sequence of the phage DNA is recognized, processed into small portions, and integrated into the CRISPR array by Cas proteins. Each sequence, termed a spacer, (gray, purple, and green boxes) is incorporated between identical CRISPR repeats (pink ovals). Phase 2: Immunity. In this stage, the bacterium encounters an identical foreign nucleic acid. Two small RNAs, the crRNA and the tracrRNA, guide the Cas9 effector protein to the phage genome. If there is sufficient sequence complementarity between the crRNA and the phage genome and a protospacer adjacent motif (PAM) is present, Cas9 then cleaves both strands of the target.



**Figure 2. Cas9-mediated cleavage of the HIV provirus.** A synthetic guide RNA (gRNA), shown in blue, is composed of a duplex of the crRNA and tracrRNA and may be engineered to target virtually any sequence of interest. Cas9 targeting is dependent on sequence complementarity with the target, in this case the HIV provirus, and a protospacer adjacent motif (PAM), shown in red. Following DNA recognition and binding, two Cas9 endonuclease domains, the HNH and RuvC domains, cleave the complementary and non-complementary DNA strands, respectively.

# Chapter 4

## Cas9-mediated targeting of viral RNA in eukaryotic cells

The work of this chapter was published May 2015 in PNAS

Full article citation:

Price AA\*, Sampson TR\*, Ratner HK, Grakoui A, Weiss DW. Cas9-mediated targeting of viral RNA in eukaryotic cells. <u>PNAS</u>. 2015.

\* These authors contributed equally to the manuscript

## Cas9-mediated targeting of viral RNA in eukaryotic cells

Aryn A. Price<sup>1,2,3,#</sup>, Timothy R. Sampson<sup>1,2,3#§</sup>, Hannah K. Ratner<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Arash Grakoui<sup>2,3,4\*</sup>, and David S. Weiss<sup>2,3,4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Microbiology and Immunology, Microbiology and Molecular Genetics Program, Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30329.

<sup>2</sup>Emory Vaccine Center, Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30329.

<sup>3</sup>Yerkes National Primate Research Center, Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30329.

<sup>4</sup>Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, Emory University School of

Medicine, Atlanta, Georgia 30329.

<sup>§</sup>Current address: Division of Biology and Biological Engineering, California Institute of

Technology, Pasadena, California, 91125.

<sup>#</sup>These authors contributed equally

\*Corresponding authors: Arash Grakoui

Emory Vaccine CenterEmory Vaccine Center954 Gatewood Rd, 3020954 Gatewood Rd, 2028Atlanta, GA 30329Atlanta, GA 30329Tel: (404) 727-7217Tel: (404) 727-8214arash.grakoui@emory.edudavid.weiss@emory.edu

David S. Weiss

Short Title : Cas9-mediated RNA virus targeting in eukaryotic cells.

#### Abstract:

CRISPR (<u>C</u>lustered <u>Regularly Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats</u>) - Cas (<u>C</u>RISPR-<u>associated</u>) systems are prokaryotic RNA-directed endonuclease machineries that act as an adaptive immune system against foreign genetic elements (1, 2). Utilizing small CRISPR RNAs (crRNAs) that provide specificity, Cas proteins recognize and degrade nucleic acids (3). We previously demonstrated that the Cas9 endonuclease from *Francisella novicida* (FnCas9) is capable of targeting RNA (4). Here, we show that FnCas9 can be directed by an engineered <u>R</u>NA-targeting guide <u>RNA</u> (rgRNA) to target and inhibit a human +ssRNA virus, hepatitis C virus, within eukaryotic cells. This work reveals a versatile and portable RNA targeting system that can effectively function in eukaryotic cells and be programmed as an antiviral defense.

## Significance:

The Cas9 endonuclease has quickly become a revolutionary tool in genome engineering. Utilizing small guiding RNAs, Cas9 can be targeted to specific DNA sequences of interest, where it catalyzes DNA cleavage. We now demonstrate that Cas9 from the Gram-negative bacterium *Francisella novicida* (FnCas9) can be reprogrammed to target a specific RNA substrate in eukaryotic cells, the genome of the +ssRNA virus, hepatitis C virus (HCV). Further, this targeting results in inhibition of viral protein production. Overall, programmable Cas9-mediated viral RNA targeting likely represents one of myriad potential applications of FnCas9 in RNA targeting in eukaryotic cells.

#### Introduction

Our recent work revealed a unique form of prokaryotic gene regulation, whereby Cas9 from *Francisella novicida* (FnCas9) targets a bacterial mRNA, leading to decreased mRNA stability and ultimately gene repression (4). Given the ability of specific Cas9 proteins to be reprogrammed to target and cleave DNA in numerous biological systems (5-7), we hypothesized that FnCas9 could be retargeted to a distinct RNA in eukaryotic cells and lead to its inhibition. To eliminate any confounding interactions of FnCas9 with DNA we targeted FnCas9 to the +ssRNA virus, hepatitis C virus (HCV), which has no DNA stage in its lifecycle. HCV is an important human pathogen associated with liver fibrosis, cirrhosis, hepatocellular carcinoma, and is the leading cause of liver transplantation (8, 9).

To target the RNA of HCV, we engineered a small RNA, which we term an <u>R</u>NAtargeting guide <u>RNA</u> (rgRNA). The rgRNA is similar in structure to that naturally created by the *F. novicida* tracrRNA and scaRNA, which are utilized for endogenous mRNA targeting (4). It consists of a dsRNA region thought to be important for interaction with Cas9, and a ssRNA targeting sequence complementary to a portion of the highly conserved HCV 5' untranslated region (UTR), involved in both translation of the viral polyprotein and replication of the viral RNA (Fig. 1A, and Fig. S1). Vectors encoding either this rgRNA or FnCas9 (Fig. S2 and Supplementary Sequence File) were transfected into human hepatocellular carcinoma cells (Huh-7.5) and subsequently infected with a previously described HCVcc genotype 2a recombinant virus encoding *Renilla* luciferase (10). Expression of both the 5' UTR-targeting rgRNA and FnCas9 together reduced the levels of viral proteins, as measured by immunostaining for the E2 glycoprotein (Figs. 1B, C) or quantification of luciferase production (Fig. 1D). Conversely, expression of either the rgRNA or FnCas9 alone had no effect (Figs. 1B-D), nor did expression of a non-specific rgRNA and FnCas9 (Figs. 1B-D), demonstrating the specificity of this system. Additionally, an rgRNA complementary to a portion of the 3' UTR, necessary for replication of viral RNA, decreased viral protein levels similarly (Figs. 1A-D), demonstrating that the effect was not specific to a single site in the HCV genome. Therefore, FnCas9 can be programmed by a single rgRNA to target the RNA of a human virus in eukaryotic cells, leading to viral inhibition.

In order to determine if FnCas9 was directly associated with HCV RNA, we performed co-immunoprecipitation experiments. We transfected cells with an HA epitope-tagged version of the protein (which maintained its ability to inhibit HCV (Figs. S3A, B)) as well as the 5' UTR-targeting rgRNA and subsequently infected the cells with HCV. FnCas9 was immunoprecipitated from cell lysates, associated RNA was purified, and quantitative real-time PCR was performed for the rgRNA and HCV RNA. The rgRNA was present in association with FnCas9 (Fig. 2A), as was HCV RNA (Fig. 2B), suggesting that HCV RNA was directly targeted by the FnCas9:rgRNA complex. A non-specific rgRNA did not facilitate this interaction (Fig. 2B), but it did associate with FnCas9 (Fig. 2C). Thus, FnCas9 can be targeted to directly associate with viral RNA within eukaryotic cells.

We next sought to determine how FnCas9 was inhibiting HCV. We first found that

addition of a nuclear localization signal (NLS) to FnCas9 abrogated its repression of viral protein production (Fig. 3A and Fig. S4), in line with its targeting of cytosolic HCV RNA. Since Cas9 proteins including FnCas9 are known to cleave DNA through two conserved structural domains, the RuvC and HNH endonuclease domains (7), it is possible that these regions are important for inhibiting HCV. We therefore generated alanine point mutations in the conserved RuvC and HNH active sites of FnCas9 (D11A and H969A, respectively). Despite mutation in one or both of these domains, FnCas9 maintained its ability to inhibit HCV (Fig. 3B). However, mutation in the RNA-binding arginine-rich motif (ARM; R59A), which is necessary for interaction with nucleic acids both within *F. novicida* and in orthologous Cas9 (4, 11, 12), resulted in diminished HCV inhibition (Fig. 3B). It is therefore likely that FnCas9 inhibits HCV not through target cleavage, but instead by associating with the target RNA and preventing the function of the translational and/or replication machineries.

We subsequently tested whether FnCas9 could inhibit translation of HCV. We performed an *in vitro* translation reaction using immunoprecipitated FnCas9 from transfected Huh-7.5 cells, purified RNA from cells transfected with either the 5' UTR-targeting rgRNA or the non-targeting RNA, as well as HCV genomic RNA. Addition of both FnCas9 and the 5' UTR-targeting rgRNA resulted in decreased translation of the HCV genome, as measured by viral luciferase production (Fig. 3C). Furthermore, a catalytically inactive FnCas9 (D11A/H969A) maintained its ability to inhibit translation of HCV, while the ARM (R59A) mutant displayed less translational inhibition (Fig. 3C). Taken together, these data suggest that FnCas9 is capable of directly inhibiting translation of target RNA. In order to determine whether FnCas9 also inhibits replication of HCV RNA, we targeted the negative-sense strand (generated during replication and which is untranslated) of the 5' UTR. Such targeting resulted in inhibition of HCV (Fig. S5), suggesting that FnCas9 is capable of inhibiting viral replication as well. Overall, these data strongly support a model whereby FnCas9 binds HCV RNA, does not cleave the target, but inhibits the function of both translational and replication machineries.

We subsequently tested the sequence requirements for RNA targeting. Cas9 proteins require a short sequence adjacent to the targeted region, called a proto-spacer adjacent motif (PAM), to cleave DNA (13). We sought to determine if a similar conserved adjacent region was necessary for HCV inhibition. A 5' UTR targeting rgRNA shifted to lack similar adjacent sequences still inhibited HCV (Fig. 4A). In fact, no common features are observed in the sequences adjacent to the targets of rgRNAs utilized in this study (Fig. S6A). In contrast, DNA targeting by FnCas9 endogenously within *F. novicida* absolutely requires a PAM (Figs. S6B, C). Together, these data demonstrate that FnCas9-mediated inhibition of HCV is PAM-independent.

DNA targeting RNAs utilized by Cas9 require a 3' seed sequence within the targeting region, and even a single mismatch in this region can abrogate function (14, 15). To test if there was a similar requirement for RNA targeting, we generated a panel of rgRNA mutants containing mismatches within the targeting sequence. We found that mutation of up to 6 bases within the 3' targeting region of the rgRNA were tolerated, without loss of HCV inhibition (Fig. 4B). Longer regions of mismatched bases at the 3' end resulted in a

loss of activity (Fig. 4B). Specific mismatches in the 5' region of rgRNA were also nonfunctional (Fig. 4C). A single mismatch in either the first or second base was sufficient to abrogate viral inhibition (Fig. 4C). However, a mismatch in the third base alone did not lead to a loss of activity (Fig. 4C). These data strongly suggest that unlike DNA targeting by other Cas9 proteins, FnCas9 inhibition of HCV requires a critical sequence in the 5' end rather than the 3' end of the targeting region of the guiding RNA (14, 15).

The previous experiments demonstrated that FnCas9 could target an RNA and facilitate resistance to HCV infection. We next tested whether FnCas9 could be introduced following an established viral infection and inhibit the virus (Fig. 5A). Transfection of HCV-infected Huh-7.5 cells with FnCas9 and 5' or 3' UTR targeting rgRNAs resulted in decreased viral protein production (Fig. 5B), while expression of either FnCas9 or rgRNAs alone was not sufficient to inhibit HCV infection (Fig. 5B). Thus, the FnCas9:rgRNA machinery can combat both new and established viral infections.

These data demonstrate the successful adaptation of the CRISPR-Cas prokaryotic immune system as an intracellular eukaryotic antiviral defense. While other CRISPR-Cas systems can target RNA in archaea (16-18) and bacteria (19), and recently SpCas9 has been shown to cleave RNAs *in vitro* (20), this work represents the reprogramming of a Cas protein (FnCas9) to target RNA within a eukaryotic cell. Intriguingly, we find that orthologous Cas9 proteins from diverse Type II CRISPR-Cas families, including *Streptococcus pyogenes, S. thermophilus,* and *Neisseria meningitidis,* are also capable of inhibiting HCV during cellular infection (Figs. S7,8). This suggests a broader capability

of diverse Cas9 proteins to target and associate with RNA targets. Our results further demonstrate that FnCas9 inhibition of HCV is PAM-independent, unlike the *in vitro* RNA targeting ability of *Streptococcus pyogenes* Cas9 which requires exogenous PAM encoding oligomers (20). Thus, FnCas9-mediated RNA inhibition may be more flexible in its targeting. Importantly, this targeting is highly specific. Compared to cells with a vector control, significant changes in host cell gene expression were not observed in cells expressing Cas9 in conjunction with either the HCV targeting or non-specific rgRNA, demonstrating the specificity of these complexes (Fig. S9 and Supplementary Table 1). Furthermore, the presence of FnCas9 in the cytosol is necessary to inhibit HCV, in contrast to DNA targeting by Cas9 that relies on nuclear localization (21). Cytosolic RNA targeting would potentially limit FnCas9 off-target effects on host DNA. Since the lifecycles of viruses with both RNA and DNA genomes require an RNA stage (generated during transcription, replication, or both), and FnCas9 can target both negative- and positive-sense strands of RNA and inhibit by blocking both viral translation and replication machineries (Fig. S10), it is likely that the FnCas9:rgRNA machinery can be utilized to target diverse viruses, including both +ssRNA viruses (such as flavivirus, poliovirus, and rhinovirus) and -ssRNA virus (such as filovirus, paramyxovirus and orthomyxovirus). Furthermore, some eukaryotic viruses have mechanisms to circumvent eukaryotic RNA-targeting antiviral defenses, such as classical RNAi systems (22-24); however, these viruses have not evolved in the presence of Cas9, so it is unlikely that they have Cas9 evasion strategies. Thus, the FnCas9:rgRNA machinery could facilitate the targeting of viruses as soon as their genome sequences are available, without knowledge of the virus lifecycle or host receptors.

Given the vast success of Cas9 as a mediator of genome engineering in a multitude of species (5-7, 14, 25-31) our data suggest that FnCas9 could be used in a broad range of systems, representing a new paradigm in Cas9-mediated genetic engineering. This work demonstrates a portable, inter-domain machinery capable of viral inhibition, likely just one of myriad potential biotechnological and medical applications of Cas9-mediated RNA targeting.

#### **Materials and Methods**

**Plasmid Construction.** FnCas9 was amplified using the primers found in Supplementary Table 2 and cloned into the *XbaI* and *PmeI* sites of pcDNA3.3 (Invitrogen, Grand Island, NY). FnCas9 point mutants were amplified from strains published previously(4). StCas9, SpCas9, and NmCas9 were amplified from Addgene vectors #48669, 41815, 47872, respectively. To create rgRNA vectors, *F. novicida* CRISPR repeat sequences and the indicated targeting sequence were cloned into the gRNA-encoding plasmid from the Church Lab (Addgene #41824) (5), within the pCR-Blunt-II (Invitrogen) backbone, using overlapping PCR and the primers indicated in Supplementary Table S1.

**Cell lines and culture conditions.** Huh-7.5 cells were maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, BioWhittaker, Walkersville, MD) containing 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Hyclone, Logan, UT) and 100 ug/ mL of penicillin/ streptomycin (Cellgro, Herndon, VA) at 37 degrees in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

**Plasmid Transfection.** Huh-7.5 cells were seeded to 80% confluence in 24 well plates in DMEM without antibiotics the day prior to transfection. Eight hundred ng of total plasmid DNA were transfected using Lipofectamine<sup>TM</sup> 3000 transfection reagent (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Six hours following transfection, cell supernatants were aspirated and replaced with DMEM supplemented with FBS and antibiotics.

Virus transcription and transfection. Rluc virus utilized for luciferase assays encodes

the *Renilla* luciferase gene between the p7 and NS2 coding sequences of the previously described J6/ JFH genotype 2a infectious clone Cp7(10). Rluc and Cp7 viral RNA were prepared as previously described(10). Purified plasmid encoding the cDNA copy of the full-length viral genome was linearized and 5' overhangs were digested with Mung Bean Nuclease (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA). Linearized DNA was purified with phenol-chloroform extraction and ethanol precipitation. Transcription of the linearized DNA template was performed using a MEGAscript<sup>TM</sup> T7 kit and the linear template was treated with DNAse I (Ambion, Austin, TX). RNA was purified with phenol-chloroform extraction and standard agarose gel electrophoresis.

Huh-7.5 cells were grown to 70% confluence, trypsinized, and washed twice in PBS. Ten  $\mu$ g purified RNA were mixed with .4 mL Huh-7.5 cells suspended at a concentration of 2 x 10<sup>7</sup> cells/ mL. Samples were electroporated in BTX 2 mm gap cuvettes (Harvard Apparatus, Inc., Holliston, MA) using an ECM 830 apparatus (BTX Genetronics, San Diego, CA) with five pulses of 99 usec at 820 V over 1.1 sec. Cells were suspended in 25 mL complete DMEM and virus was harvested and stored at –80 degrees C three days following transfection.

**Immunoprecipitation.** Anti-HA IP was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions from lysates of Huh-7.5 cells infected with HCVcc and transfected with FnCas9 and rgRNA expression vectors as indicated (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO). Total RNA was extracted from the precipitated fraction using an RNeasy Mini Kit

(Qiagen, Valencia, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

**In vitro translation assay.** Immunoprecipitated FnCas9 was incubated with 1µg HCV RNA, and 500ng RNA from Huh-7.5 cells transfected with either the 5' UTR – targeting rgRNA or the Control rgRNA, in conjunction with the rabbit reticulocyte lysate *in vitro* translation kit (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Translated viral luciferase was measured as described below.

**Quantitative RT-PCR.** Quantitative reverse transcription reactions were performed using Taqman One Step RT-PCR Master Mix Reagent (Applied Biosystems, Hammonton, NJ) and primers specific for the 5' untranslated region of HCV (Supplementary Table 1). Sample analysis was performed on an Applied Biosystems 7500 apparatus. rgRNAs were quantified via Syber Green One Step RT-PCR, with primers found in Supplementary Table 1.

Luciferase Assays. Huh-7.5 cells in a 96 well plate format were lysed and analyzed for relative light activity using the Renilla Luciferase Assay System (Promega, Madison, WI) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 50 ul of Renilla substrate in assay buffer was added to 50 ul of cell lysate and relative light units were quantitated on a Clarity 4.0 microplate luminometer (Biotek, Winooski, VT).

**Immunohistochemistry.** Six thousand Huh-7.5 cells per well were plated in collagen coated 96 well plates. The following day, cells were infected with the J6/JFH genotype 2a

virus Cp7. Following three days of incubation, cells were fixed with methanol, washed twice with PBS, and permeabilized with PBS containing .1% Tween-20 (PBS-T). Fixed cells were incubated in blocking buffer containing 1% bovine serum albumin and .2% skim milk for thirty minutes. Endogenous peroxidase was blocked using 3% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, then cells were washed twice with PBS and once with PBS-T. Cells were then incubated with the 2C1 monoclonal antibody to HCV E2 glycoprotein for one hour at room temperature. After two washes with PBS and one with PBS-T, cells were incubated with ImmPress anti-mouse HRP (Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA), washed, and developed using DAB substrate (Vector Laboratories).

Acknowledgements: We thank Rafi Ahmed for helpful discussions, Sarkis Mazmanian for critical support, and Steven Bosinger of the Yerkes Genomics Core for performance of RNAseq and its analysis. This project was supported by NIH grants R01-AI11070 and U54-AI057157 (Southeastern Regional Center of Excellence for Emerging Infections and Biodefense), and the Burroughs Wellcome Fund to D.S.W, and Yerkes Research Center Base Grant P51RR-000165 and NIH grants R01-AI070101 and R01-DK083356 to A.G. Its contents are solely the responsibility of the authors and do not necessarily represent the official views of the NIH. T.R.S. was supported by the NSF GRFP and the ARCS Foundation. The authors have filed a related patent. A.A.P., T.R.S., and H.K.R. performed the experiments; all authors conceived and designed the experiments, interpreted data and wrote the manuscript.

### References

- 1. Sorek R, Lawrence CM, & Wiedenheft B (2013) CRISPR-mediated adaptive immune systems in bacteria and archaea. *Annu Rev Biochem* 82:237-266.
- 2. Makarova KS, *et al.* (2011) Evolution and classification of the CRISPR-Cas systems. *Nat Rev Microbiol* 9(6):467-477.
- Barrangou R, *et al.* (2007) CRISPR provides acquired resistance against viruses in prokaryotes. *Science* 315(5819):1709-1712.
- Sampson TR, Saroj SD, Llewellyn AC, Tzeng YL, & Weiss DS (2013) A CRISPR/Cas system mediates bacterial innate immune evasion and virulence. *Nature* 497(7448):254-257.
- Mali P, et al. (2013) RNA-guided human genome engineering via Cas9. Science 339(6121):823-826.
- Cong L, *et al.* (2013) Multiplex genome engineering using CRISPR/Cas systems. *Science* 339(6121):819-823.
- Jinek M, et al. (2012) A programmable dual-RNA-guided DNA endonuclease in adaptive bacterial immunity. *Science* 337(6096):816-821.
- Shepard CW, Finelli L, & Alter MJ (2005) Global epidemiology of hepatitis C virus infection. *Lancet Infect Dis* 5(9):558-567.
- 9. Scheel TK & Rice CM (2013) Understanding the hepatitis C virus life cycle paves the way for highly effective therapies. *Nat Med* 19(7):837-849.
- 10. Mateu G, Donis RO, Wakita T, Bukh J, & Grakoui A (2008) Intragenotypic JFH1 based recombinant hepatitis C virus produces high levels of infectious particles

but causes increased cell death. Virology 376(2):397-407.

- Jinek M, *et al.* (2014) Structures of Cas9 endonucleases reveal RNA-mediated conformational activation. *Science* 343(6176):1247997.
- 12. Nishimasu H, *et al.* (2014) Crystal structure of Cas9 in complex with guide RNA and target DNA. *Cell* 156(5):935-949.
- Sternberg SH, Redding S, Jinek M, Greene EC, & Doudna JA (2014) DNA interrogation by the CRISPR RNA-guided endonuclease Cas9. *Nature*:Epub ahead of print:Jan 31, 2014.
- Jiang W, Bikard D, Cox D, Zhang F, & Marraffini LA (2013) RNA-guided editing of bacterial genomes using CRISPR-Cas systems. *Nat Biotechnol* 31(3):233-239.
- 15. Semenova E, et al. (2011) Interference by clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeat (CRISPR) RNA is governed by a seed sequence. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108(25):10098-10103.
- Hale CR, *et al.* (2009) RNA-guided RNA cleavage by a CRISPR RNA-Cas protein complex. *Cell* 139(5):945-956.
- Zhang J & White MF (2013) Hot and crispy: CRISPR-Cas systems in the hyperthermophile Sulfolobus solfataricus. *Biochem Soc Trans* 41(6):1422-1426.
- Zebec Z, Manica A, Zhang J, White MF, & Schleper C (2014) CRISPR-mediated targeted mRNA degradation in the archaeon Sulfolobus solfataricus. *Nucleic acids research* 42(8):5280-5288.
- 19. Staals RH, et al. (2013) Structure and activity of the RNA-targeting Type III-B

CRISPR-Cas complex of Thermus thermophilus. Mol Cell 52(1):135-145.

- 20. O'Connell MR, *et al.* (2014) Programmable RNA recognition and cleavage by CRISPR/Cas9. *Nature*.
- Hsu PD, Lander ES, & Zhang F (2014) Development and Applications of CRISPR-Cas9 for Genome Engineering. *Cell* 157(6):1262-1278.
- Sullivan CS & Ganem D (2005) A virus-encoded inhibitor that blocks RNA interference in mammalian cells. *J Virol* 79(12):7371-7379.
- Singh G, *et al.* (2009) Suppression of RNA silencing by Flock house virus B2
  protein is mediated through its interaction with the PAZ domain of Dicer. *FASEB* J 23(6):1845-1857.
- Chao JA, *et al.* (2005) Dual modes of RNA-silencing suppression by Flock House virus protein B2. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* 12(11):952-957.
- Mali P, et al. (2013) CAS9 transcriptional activators for target specificity screening and paired nickases for cooperative genome engineering. Nat Biotechnol 31:833-838.
- Qi LS, *et al.* (2013) Repurposing CRISPR as an RNA-guided platform for sequence-specific control of gene expression. *Cell* 152(5):1173-1183.
- Bikard D, *et al.* (2013) Programmable repression and activation of bacterial gene expression using an engineered CRISPR-Cas system. *Nucleic acids research* 41(15):7429-7437.
- 28. Hou Z, et al. (2013) Efficient genome engineering in human pluripotent stem cells using Cas9 from Neisseria meningitidis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.

- 29. Chang N, *et al.* (2013) Genome editing with RNA-guided Cas9 nuclease in zebrafish embryos. *Cell Res* 23(4):465-472.
- Gratz SJ, et al. (2013) Genome engineering of Drosophila with the CRISPR
  RNA-guided Cas9 nuclease. *Genetics*.
- 31. Perez-Pinera P, *et al.* (2013) RNA-guided gene activation by CRISPR-Cas9-based transcription factors. *Nat Methods* 10:973-976.



**Figure 1.** FnCas9 can be reprogrammed to inhibit viral protein production in eukaryotic cells. (A) rgRNA schematic with targeting sequences (gray highlight) against the 5' or 3' UTR of HCV genomic RNA. (B) Huh-7.5 cells were transfected with the indicated combinations of FnCas9 and rgRNA and infected 48 h later with HCV encoding Renilla luciferase. At 72 h, cells were fixed and stained with anti-E2 antibody and imaged. (C) E2-positive foci from B were quantified and plotted as percent inhibition compared with the vector control. (D) Quantification of viral luciferase production displayed as percent inhibition compared with the vector control (n = 3; bars represent the SEM; data are representative of at least six experiments).



**Figure 2.** FnCas9 targets and associates with HCV RNA. Huh-7.5 cells producing an HA epitope-tagged FnCas9 alone, or with either the 5' UTR targeting rgRNA or the control rgRNA, were infected with HCV. At 72 h postinfection, lysates were immunoprecipitated with anti-HA. Coprecipitating RNA was purified and analyzed by quantitative real-time PCR to detect the relative enrichment of the (A) 5' UTR rgRNA, (B) HCV RNA, or (C) control rgRNA, normalizing to gapdh mRNA levels (n = 4; bars represent the SEM; data are representative of three experiments).



**Figure 3.** Molecular requirements for FnCas9-mediated HCV inhibition. (A) Huh-7.5 cells were transfected with FnCas9  $\pm$  NLS, the 5' UTR-targeting rgRNA, and HCV. At 72 h, viral luciferase was quantified and the percent inhibition compared with the nontargeting rgRNA is displayed (n = 8; data compiled from three in- dependent experiments). (B) Experiments were performed as above, using alanine point mutants in the RuvC domain (D11A), HNH domain (H969A), the double mutant (D11A/H969A), or the ARM (R59A) (n = 8; data compiled from three independent experiments). (C) Rabbit reticulocyte lysate in vitro translation assays of HCV luciferase were performed using the indicated Cas9 and RNAs and viral luciferase measured (n = 4; data are rep resentative of four experiments).



**Figure 4.** RNA sequence requirements for FnCas9 inhibition of HCV. (A) Huh-7.5 cells were transfected with FnCas9 using the rgRNA mutants in the indicated shifted alignments. At 72 h, viral luciferase was quantified and the percent inhibition compared with the nontargeting rgRNA is displayed (n = 12; data are compiled from three independent experiments). (B) Experiments were performed as above, using the mutants in the 3' region indicated in the alignment below the figure (n = 12; bars represent the SEM; data are compiled from three independent experiments). (C) Experiments were performed as above, using the mutants in the 5' region indicated in the alignment below the figure (n = 12; bars represent the SEM; data are compiled from three independent experiments). (C) Experiments were performed as above, using the mutants in the 5' region indicated in the alignment below the figure (n = 12; bars represent the SEM; data are compiled from three independent experiments).



**Figure 5.** FnCas9 can inhibit an established viral infection. (A) Experimental outline. HCV-transfected Huh-7.5 cells were transfected with FnCas9 and the in- dicated targeting RNAs, after 72 h postinfection. (B) Quantification of viral luciferase production, displayed as percent inhibition compared with the vector control (n = 3; bars represent the SEM; data are representative of at least 12 experiments).



**Fig. S1.** Design of the rgRNA. (A and B) Schematic of the interaction between the (A) F. novicida U112 CRISPR repeat sequence and the tracrRNA (red) or (B)the scaRNA (blue) and the tracrRNA. (C) Design of the rgRNA based on the interaction between the tracrRNA (red) and the scaRNA (blue) with the RNA targeting region (black).



Fig. S2. Plasmid maps of the FnCas9 and rgRNA encoding vectors.



**Fig. S3.** HA epitope-tagged FnCas9 retains the ability to inhibit HCV luciferase production in a dosedependent manner. (A) Huh-7.5 cells were transfected with the indicated combinations of HA epitopetagged FnCas9 and rgRNA as well as HCV RNA. At 72 h postinfection, viral luciferase production was measured and displayed as percent inhibition compared with vector controls ( $\mathbf{n} = 3$ ; bars represent the SEM; data are representative of at least five experiments). (**B**) Experiments were performed as above, varying the concentration of FnCas9 ( $\mathbf{n} = 3$ ; bars represent the SEM; data are representative of at least two experiments).



**Fig. S4.** NLS abrogates FnCas9 inhibition of HCV luciferase production. Huh-7.5 cells were transfected with the indicated combinations of FnCas9 (with or without an NLS) and rgRNA targeting the 3' UTR as well as HCV RNA encoding Renilla luciferase. At 72 h postinfection, viral luciferase production was measured and displayed as percent inhibition compared with vector controls (n = 3; bars represent the SEM; data are representative of at least five experiments).



**Fig. S5.** FnCas9 can inhibit HCV through positive or negative sense strand targeting. Huh-7.5 cells were transfected with the indicated combinations of FnCas9 and an rgRNA targeting either the positive or negative sense strand of the 5' UTR as well as HCV RNA encoding Renilla luciferase. Viral luciferase production was measured and displayed as percent inhibition compared with FnCas9 and control targeting rgRNA (n = 3; bars represent the SEM; data are representative of at least two experiments).



**Fig. S6.** FnCas9 targeting of DNA is PAM-dependent, whereas RNA targeting is PAM-independent. (A) Alignment of the adjacent sequences to both the 5' and 3' end of the regions targeted by the rgRNAs in this manuscript. (**B**) Schematic outline of the natural crRNA 1 and proto-spacer interaction in the context of the PAM sequence (–NG) (1). (**C**) Transformation efficiency (plotted as cfu per 100 ng of plasmid) of wild-type **F. novicida** U112 with either empty vector, a vector containing spacer 1 of the **F. novicida** crRNA array, and the predicted PAM on the nontargeted strand (which would be recognized by Cas9) or a predicted PAM on the targeted strand (which is not recognized by Cas9) (**n** = 3; bars represent the SEM; data are representative of at least two experiments).



**Fig. S7.** rgRNAs for orthologous Cas9 proteins. Schematic of the rgRNAs generated to target the 5' UTR of HCV RNA by orthologous Cas9 proteins from (A) *S.thermophilus*, (B) *S.pyogenes*, and (C) *N.meningitidis*.



**Fig. S8.** Orthologous Cas9 proteins are capable of HCV inhibition. Huh-7.5 cells were transfected with Cas9 proteins from (**A**) **S. pyogenes**, (**B**) **S. thermophilus**, or (**C**) **N. meningitidis**, as well as a cognate control or 5' UTR-targeting rgRNA (Fig. S7), and infected with HCV. At 72 h, viral luciferase was quantified. The percent inhibition compared with the control rgRNA is displayed ( $\mathbf{n} = 8$ ; data were compiled from three independent experiments).


**Fig. S9.** Global gene expression of Huh-7.5 cells transfected with the FnCas9 machinery. Huh-7.5 cells were transfected with FnCas9 and either the nontargeting control rgRNA, 5' UTR-targeting rgRNA, or an empty vector alone. RNA was extracted and sequenced to analyze gene expression. Data are plotted to compare the reads per kilobase per million mapped reads for each individual gene. (A) FnCas9 + control rgRNA compared with vector alone. (B) FnCas9 + 5' UTR-targeting rgRNA compared with vector alone. (C) FnCas9 + control rgRNA compared with FnCas9 + 5' UTR-targeting rgRNA.

## Chapter 5

### **Conclusions and Future Directions**

Portions of the work of this chapter were adapted from a review article published April 2014 in *Future Virology* 

HCV adaptations to altered CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell immunity during pregnancy

Full article citation:

**Price AA**, Grakoui A, Honegger JR. Hepatitis C virus adaptations to altered CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell immunity during pregnancy. *Future Virology*. Review. 2014.

#### Chapter 5

#### **Conclusions and Future Directions**

The studies presented herein examine two very different immune systems, one maternal, and the other from the bacterium *Franciscella novicida*. The intersection of these drastically different immune systems is their ability to restrict HCV infection. In the second chapter we explored the possibility that maternal innate immune activation extends beyond gestation until adaptive immune function is fully restored. We found that prolonged ISG expression in circulating PBMCs following delivery is dependent upon maternal genotype at IFNL3 SNP rs12979860. Further, this antiviral gene signature was primarily expressed in CD14<sup>+</sup> cells and not all circulating cell types and may have important implications for women persistently infected with HCV. In chapter four we demonstrated the use of Cas9 to restrict HCV infection in cell culture. The remainder of this work will address outstanding questions, future directions, and implications for these studies.

**Potential sources of CD14<sup>+</sup> cell stimulation.** One caveat to the work of chapter two is that it did not address the source of CD14<sup>+</sup> cell stimulation. CD14<sup>+</sup> cells may be stimulated within a localized environment in which other circulating cell types are not privy, or have a more robust response to interferon stimulation than other cell subsets. Hepatocytes are potent producers of type I and III IFNs (1), and both HCV and HBV are susceptible to IFN-mediated signaling. Further, HBV viremia tends to decrease following delivery (2, 3). Though it has not been demonstrated that IFN is produced by hepatocytes during pregnancy and/or following delivery, this may be a possibility worth examining

since the liver undergoes significant physiological changes during gestation. For example, mouse studies have demonstrated that during pregnancy, each hepatocyte nearly doubles in size to accommodate the increase in circulating hormones such as estrogen and progesterone (4, 5). As the liver is the primary site of steroid hormone metabolism, hormonal changes could potentially impact cellular hepatocyte function and cytokine secretion. However, the study of this correlation poses a significant technical challenge, as liver biopsies would have to be obtained from healthy women both during pregnancy and following delivery.

Alternatively, CD14<sup>+</sup> cells may be exposed to IFN during pregnancy and the maintenance of the ISG signature is dependent upon IFNL3 genotype. Placental recruitment of monocytes and macrophages is required for the vascular remodeling that occurs during pregnancy (6). Humans undergo haemochorial transplantation, in which placental syncytiotrophoblasts invade maternal blood vessels, which allows maternal blood to directly contact semi-allogeneic syncytiotrophoblasts (7). One hypothesis is that CD14<sup>+</sup> cells circulating within maternal blood are exposed to IFN produced by these placental syncytiotrophoblasts. Physical interactions between syncytiotrophoblasts and monocytes involving ICAM-1, LFA-1, and fractalkine have been described, so it is plausible that CD14<sup>+</sup> interferon stimulation *in vivo* requires cell-to-cell contact (8-10). Continuous exposure to interferon during the gestational period could account for the enriched CD14<sup>+</sup> ISGs following delivery. Regardless of the location of CD14<sup>+</sup> stimulation, we speculate that postpartum CD14<sup>+</sup> cells from CC donors display an advantage over their TT and CT counterparts in their ability to dampen interferon signaling. We also hypothesize that the prolonged IFN signature identified following delivery in uninfected mothers could have potential implications for mothers persistently infected with HCV. Given the parallel between postpartum ISG expression in mothers with a CC genotype and intrahepatic ISG expression in individuals infected with HCV, we predict that a CC genotype may correlate with the observed postpartum decrease in viral load observed in certain women chronically infected with HCV. In contrast, we predict the mothers with TT or CT genotypes are more likely to retain steady viral loads throughout pregnancy and following delivery. In the next section we will discuss the viral load dynamics during pregnancy and following delivery of other persistent viruses such as HBV and HIV. We focus on the role of IFN signaling in control of these viruses, as well as certain acute virus infections. Further, we will examine other potential factors that may contribute to the viral load differences among HCV, HBV, and HIV.

#### **Relevance to other viral infections**.

**Persistent infections.** Pregnancy has been associated with increased disease severity and/or shedding of a variety of RNA and DNA viruses, but for many viral pathogens there is no unique phenotype in pregnancy (11). HBV and HIV, two other vertically transmissible viruses with persistent viremia, seem to offer instructive illustrations of differing natural histories during pregnancy. HBV viral loads in pregnant women appear to parallel those of women infected with HCV (2, 3). An increase in HBV antigen titers, as well as DNA replication, is observed during pregnancy, followed by a precipitous decrease in viral load following delivery. In addition, alterations in serum alanine

aminotransferase (ALT) levels indicate liver disease activity is increased postpartum in women chronically infected with HBV (3). Like HCV, HBV viral loads in pregnancy are clinically relevant as they correlate with risk of vertical transmission.

Natural history studies of HIV in pregnancy performed prior to the era of standard antiretroviral therapy did not identify significant changes in HIV viral load during or after pregnancy (12), suggesting that HIV may not be affected by the immunoregulatory changes of pregnancy. Multiple factors could account for the discrepancies in viral load dynamics of HIV versus HCV and HBV. HCV and HBV are both hepatotropic viruses, suggesting liver specific immunity might be particularly susceptible to regulation in pregnancy and following delivery. Another similarity is that HCV and HBV are both sensitive to IFN signaling, whereas the sensitivity of HIV to IFN and its role in pathogenesis remains controversial. In fact, during the chronic phase of infection, type I IFN may further contribute to CD4<sup>+</sup> cell depletion and immune cell exhaustion (13).

Alternatively, it could be hypothesized that  $CD8^+$  T cells specific for HCV and HBV may be more sensitive to the expansion and contraction of  $T_{regs}$  during and after pregnancy than those targeting HIV. Further, uncontrolled HIV infection leads to the depletion of  $CD4^+$  immune cells, resulting in progressive immune system failure and susceptibility to opportunistic infections. Even if HIV-specific  $CD8^+$  T cells are activated postpartum, insufficient  $CD4^+$  T cell help may hinder  $CD8^+$  T cell effector function. Certain  $CD4^+$ cells also express the surface marker CD14. Depletion of  $CD4^+$   $CD14^+$  antigenpresenting cells could also potentially impact antiviral immune responses. Nonetheless, the parallel dynamics of viruses as dissimilar as HCV, a +ssRNA virus, and HBV, a dsDNA virus, highlight the potentially broad and potent effects of pregnancy and parturition on cellular immunity, with conceivable implication for vaccines, cancers, and acute viral infections.

Acute infections. It is also possible that IFNL3 genotype may have implications for viruses that do not establish persistent infection, such as the Zika virus. More than 80% of infections with Zika virus are asymptomatic, though in rare cases symptoms include fever, headache, and rash (14). Viremia has not been reported to last more than seven days (15), but new studies suggest that there is a connection between maternal infection during pregnancy and fetal microcephaly (14, 16). Given that HCV and Zika virus are both positive sense single stranded RNA viruses and members of the family *Flaviviridae*, it is possible that Zika may be particularly susceptible to IFNL3 genotype-dependent IFN signaling. Whether IFNL3 genotype plays a role in maternal susceptibility to the virus or likelihood of vertical transmission remains to be elucidated. However, given the rapid transmission and recent concern over the virus, continued studies are warranted.

#### **Future directions**

Overall, our studies have raised an abundance of questions that remain to be addressed. First, what is the mechanism causing the prolonged IFN signaling in the CD14<sup>+</sup> cells from women with CT or TT genotypes? It has yet to be determined if the prolonged ISG expression is due to an IFNL3 genotype-dependent signaling process within the CD14<sup>+</sup> cells themselves. Alternatively, it is possible that an external inflammatory process continues unabated in the months after delivery that particularly influences ISG expression in women with an IFNL3 TT or CT genotype. If a continuous external inflammatory process is responsible, then an additional question is raised. Is this continuous exogenous stimulus present in women with CT, TT, and CC genotypes, or only in women with CT and TT genotypes?

One of the greatest obstacles we have faced with this project is finding new mothers willing to donate blood following childbirth. For this reason we are currently examining the ISG signatures of NPC CD14<sup>+</sup> cells both during and following the removal of IFN- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\lambda$ , and other proinflammatory cytokines. We hope to generate a surrogate system that recapitulates postpartum genotype-dependent ISG signatures and will supplement our studies on postpartum blood samples. Should this system utilizing the stimulation of NPC CD14<sup>+</sup> cells be successful, we will then attempt to generate immortalized cell lines (THP-1, etc.) possessing the IFNL3 rs12979860 SNPs using the CRISPR-Cas9 platform. We foresee the use of these cell lines to perform chromatin immunoprecipitation studies on the promoter region of IFNL3 to determine if a difference in the binding of transcription factors could be responsible for the prolonged ISG signatures observed individuals with TT or CT genotypes.

Further, we would like to examine the possibility that IFN- $\lambda$ 4 could be contributing to the prolonged ISG signatures in women with CT and TT genotypes. Deletion of the G at this position results in expression of the IFN- $\lambda$ 4 protein that has been shown to retain IFN signaling capability. All of the NPC subjects and mothers from our study were genotyped

at ss469415590, and in each case there was a direct linkage between genotype at IFNL3 SNP rs12979860 and IFNL4 ss469415590. We will examine whether CD14<sup>+</sup> cells from individuals with CT and TT genotypes produce IFN- $\lambda$ 4, and whether it functions in an autocrine fashion to prolong IFN signaling.

An additional question that remains is what are the downstream consequences of prolonged IFN signaling in postpartum CD14<sup>+</sup> cells from mothers with TT or CT genotypes, particularly on adaptive immune responses? Since monocytes and myeloid dendritic cell subsets express CD14, we would like to examine the possibility that CD14<sup>+</sup> cells from CC donors are functionally capable of antigen presentation and cytokine secretion following delivery, thus activating downstream adaptive immune responses. Though we hypothesize that the increase in postpartum CD14<sup>+</sup> cell ISG transcripts from CT and TT genotypes renders them less functional than their CC counterparts, as they may be refractory to proinflammatory stimulation, this has not yet been determined experimentally. We hope to expand our cohort of both healthy and HCV-infected mothers and perform extensive phenotypic and functional analyses of postpartum CD14<sup>+</sup> cells. Further analysis will be required to determine if postpartum CD14<sup>+</sup> ISG expression can be stratified according to genotype in women persistently infected with HCV.

We have previously reported that postpartum  $CD8^+$  T cell escape mutations are lost during pregnancy, then regained following a second delivery in women who experience a precipitous decrease in plasma hepatitis C viral load, which suggests that  $CD8^+$  T cells are activated postpartum and exerting pressure on the virus (17). Blockade of type I interferon signaling in mice chronically infected with lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) clone 13 (a strain that persists in mice with features resembling human chronic infections such as HCV) reduced dendritic cell PDL1 expression, reinstated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell IFN- $\gamma$  production and promoted viral clearance (18, 19). In addition, Zheng and colleagues described a decrease in PDL1 frequency and MFI on CD14<sup>+</sup> cells from HCV treatment responders versus non-responders (20), although the impact on adaptive immunity was not assessed. If women with homozygous CC alleles possess an inherent advantage in their ability to dampen interferon responses following delivery, perhaps this has downstream consequences similar to the effect of IFNR1 blockade observed in LCMV-infected mice. CD14<sup>+</sup> cells from CC donors could potentially be functional, secrete pro-inflammatory cytokines and present viral antigen to CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, which then provide help for virus specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. We hope to pursue this hypothesis for how CD14<sup>+</sup> cells and IFNL3 signaling could determine the outcome of chronic HCV infection.

Understanding methods of modulating viral control during pregnancy and following parturition may provide new insight into the intricacies of maternal immune regulation. Thus far we have examined the possibility that IFNL3 genotype, innate IFN signaling, and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells may contribute to the postpartum decrease in hepatitis C viral load. In the next section we briefly discuss unpublished data regarding a potential role for a circulating antiviral factor in postpartum plasma.

**Other factors that may contribute to the postpartum decrease in HCV load.** We first tested the ability of postpartum plasma to inhibit HCV in cell culture. Plasma samples obtained from HCV-uninfected women were utilized for these studies to prevent convoluting results from neutralizing antibodies or virus already present in the plasma. Briefly, plasma samples were heated to inactivate complement, and Huh-7.5 cells were treated with plasma and subsequently infected with HCV cell culture virus. Three days following infection, cells were permeabilized and stained for the E2 glycoprotein. Focus-forming units were quantitated and the percent inhibition was calculated relative to untreated cells. These *in vitro* inhibition assays suggest that plasma obtained from uninfected women between one and two weeks post delivery displays a low level of anti-viral activity when compared to plasma obtained from NPC subjects (**Figure 1**).

Given the ability of IFN to inhibit HCV replication in cell culture, we first sought to determine if IFN was present in the postpartum plasma. A549 cells (a human alveolar adenocarcinoma cell line that is extremely sensitive to type I, II, and III interferon), NPC PBMCs, and Huh-7.5 cells were incubated with NPC, pregnant, or postpartum plasma from UM07 and UM08 and analyzed for ISG induction. Regardless of cell type and length of incubation, treatment with postpartum plasma did not induce higher ISG transcript expression than treatment with plasma from NPC subjects (**Figure 2**), suggesting that IFN is not responsible for the ability of postpartum plasma to inhibit HCV.

An additional approach utilized to determine the plasma factor responsible for HCV

inhibition was 2-D gel analysis and mass spectrometry. Plasma samples isolated during pregnancy or following delivery were sent to Kendrick Labs at the University of Wisconsin for 2-D gel analysis, which allowed for comparison of protein composition and concentration in the plasma samples. 2-D gel analysis revealed significant differences in protein composition of plasma samples drawn pre and post delivery (**Figure 3**). Individual proteins were chosen for further analysis based upon fold difference in concentration and significance testing. For protein identification, mass spectrometry was performed on the chosen 2-D gel spots by the proteomics core at Columbia University. One of the proteins identified by mass spec was apolipoprotein C (**Figure 3**). As mentioned in chapter 1, lipids are imperative for the HCV life cycle and certain apolipoproteins enhance the infectious capacity of HCV particles.

We first quantified apolipoprotein C levels within NPC, pregnant, and postpartum plasma. Plasma levels of apolipoprotein C I and C II remained steady throughout pregnancy and postpartum, while apolipoprotein C III levels were significantly decreased following delivery (**Figure 4**). However, apolipoproteins do not circulate *in vivo* as distinct proteins. Rather, they form HDL, LDL, and VLDL particles that transport cholesterol throughout the body. We analyzed levels of single apolipoproteins during pregnancy and following delivery. Further study is warranted to determine if elevated levels of HDL and VLDL during pregnancy could contribute to the increased HCV replication observed during pregnancy. Following delivery, if HDL and VLDL levels are drastically decreased, this could potentially reduce the infectivity of HCV virions and contribute to the decrease in postpartum plasma viral load. However, these data are both preliminary and purely correlative. Proof of causation is unlikely without an *in vivo* animal model of HCV and pregnancy.

The future of Cas9-mediated inhibition of HCV and other RNA viruses. To our knowledge the inhibition of RNA viruses, other than HCV, by Cas9 has not been demonstrated. Numerous DAAs are currently available to cure persistent HCV infection with limited side effects. Therefore, it is unlikely that the use of Cas9 will be extensively pursued for HCV infection in the near future. However, I would like to end this dissertation with a consideration for an additional intersection of the maternal and bacterial immune systems. Maternal susceptibility to the infectious Zika and Ebola viruses raises important considerations for the use of the Cas9 platform to restrict these infections. The 2014-2015 Ebola outbreak in Africa claimed 11,315 lives (21, 22), and mortality rates greater than 95 percent have been reported for pregnant women. In a study of fifteen pregnant women infected by Ebola virus in the Democratic Republic of the Congo, only one mother and no offspring survived (23). Equally unsettling is the possibility of a Zika virus epidemic. Infection during pregnancy has been associated with microcephaly in newborns, and in Brazil alone over 4,000 new cases of microcephaly have been reported (14).

The postpartum period is associated with enhanced control of persistent viruses such as HCV, yet during gestation the maternal immune system is unable to control infection and prevent vertical transmission of other infectious RNA viruses such as Ebola and Zika. It is undeniable that antiviral therapeutics and vaccines are desperately needed for these

infections, but it remains to be seen if Cas9 will serve as an effective defense against these viruses.

#### References

- Bender S, *et al.* (2015) Activation of Type I and III Interferon Response by Mitochondrial and Peroxisomal MAVS and Inhibition by Hepatitis C Virus. *PLoS pathogens* 11(11):e1005264.
- Lin HH, Wu WY, Kao JH, & Chen DS (2006) Hepatitis B post-partum e antigen clearance in hepatitis B carrier mothers: Correlation with viral characteristics. *Journal of gastroenterology and hepatology* 21(3):605-609.
- 3. ter Borg MJ, Leemans WF, de Man RA, & Janssen HL (2008) Exacerbation of chronic hepatitis B infection after delivery. *Journal of viral hepatitis* 15(1):37-41.
- Dai G, *et al.* (2011) Maternal hepatic growth response to pregnancy in the mouse.
  *Experimental biology and medicine* 236(11):1322-1332.
- 5. Milona A, *et al.* (2010) The normal mechanisms of pregnancy-induced liver growth are not maintained in mice lacking the bile acid sensor Fxr. *American journal of physiology. Gastrointestinal and liver physiology* 298(2):G151-158.
- Svensson-Arvelund J, *et al.* (2014) The placenta in toxicology. Part II: Systemic and local immune adaptations in pregnancy. *Toxicologic pathology* 42(2):327-338.
- Moffett A & Loke C (2006) Immunology of placentation in eutherian mammals. *Nature reviews. Immunology* 6(8):584-594.
- Xiao J, et al. (1997) ICAM-1-mediated adhesion of peripheral blood monocytes to the maternal surface of placental syncytiotrophoblasts: implications for placental villitis. *The American journal of pathology* 150(5):1845-1860.
- 9. Garcia-Lloret MI, Winkler-Lowen B, & Guilbert LJ (2000) Monocytes

adhering by LFA-1 to placental syncytiotrophoblasts induce local apoptosis via release of TNF-alpha. A model for hematogenous initiation of placental inflammations. *Journal of leukocyte biology* 68(6):903-908.

- Siwetz M, *et al.* (2015) Placental fractalkine mediates adhesion of THP-1 monocytes to villous trophoblast. *Histochemistry and cell biology* 143(6):565-574.
- Weinberg ED (1984) Pregnancy-Associated Depression of Cell-Mediated Immunity. *Reviews of Infectious Diseases* 6(6):814-831.
- 12. Burns DN, *et al.* (1998) The influence of pregnancy on human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection: Antepartum and postpartum changes in human immunodeficiency virus type 1 viral load. *American journal of obstetrics and gynecology* 178(2):355-359.
- 13. Bosinger SE & Utay NS (2015) Type I interferon: understanding its role in HIV pathogenesis and therapy. *Current HIV/AIDS reports* 12(1):41-53.
- Marrs C, *et al.* (2016) Zika Virus and Pregnancy: A Review of the Literature and Clinical Considerations. *American journal of perinatology*.
- Lanciotti RS, *et al.* (2008) Genetic and serologic properties of Zika virus associated with an epidemic, Yap State, Micronesia, 2007. *Emerging infectious diseases* 14(8):1232-1239.
- Brasil P, et al. (2016) Zika Virus Infection in Pregnant Women in Rio de Janeiro -Preliminary Report. *The New England journal of medicine*.
- Honegger JR, *et al.* (2013) Loss of immune escape mutations during persistentHCV infection in pregnancy enhances replication of vertically transmitted viruses.

*Nat Med* 19(11):1529-1533.

- Teijaro JR, *et al.* (2013) Persistent LCMV infection is controlled by blockade of type I interferon signaling. *Science* 340(6129):207-211.
- Wilson EB, *et al.* (2013) Blockade of chronic type I interferon signaling to control persistent LCMV infection. *Science* 340(6129):202-207.
- Zheng J, et al. (2014) An unbalanced PD-L1/CD86 ratio in CD14(++)CD16(+) monocytes is correlated with HCV viremia during chronic HCV infection.
  Cellular & molecular immunology 11(3):294-304.
- Currie J, Grenfell B, & Farrar J (2016) Infectious diseases. Beyond Ebola. *Science* 351(6275):815-816.
- Mendoza EJ, Qiu X, & Kobinger GP (2016) Progression of Ebola Therapeutics During the 2014-2015 Outbreak. *Trends in molecular medicine* 22(2):164-173.
- Mupapa K, et al. (1999) Ebola hemorrhagic fever and pregnancy. The Journal of infectious diseases 179 Suppl 1:S11-12.

# **Figures and Figure Legends**



Figure 1. Postpartum plasma obtained from healthy women inhibits hepatitis C virus in cell culture.



**Figure 2.** Treatment of A549 cells with postpartum plasma does not induce *IFIT1*, *IFIT2*, *IFIT3*, or *OAS1* transcript expression.



**Figure 3.** 2-D gel analysis and mass spectrometry indicate that apolipoprotein C is decreased following delivery in a healthy mother.



Figure 4. Plasma apolipoprotein C III levels are decreased following delivery in uninfected women.